QUEENSLAND COMPETITION AUTHORITY

NOTICE OF RULING PURSUANT TO SECTION 150F OF THE QUEENSLAND COMPETITION AUTHORITY ACT 1997

This Notice of Ruling (**Notice**) is issued to Dalrymple Bay Infrastructure Management Pty Limited (**DBIM**) pursuant to section 150F of the Queensland Competition Authority Act 1997.

In accordance with section 150E of the QCA Act, the QCA has decided to make the ruling (**Ruling**) stated in DBIM's application that, subject to the circumstances and assumptions set out in this Notice, the appropriate pricing method to be applied for the purpose for the 8X Expansion is socialisation.

This Ruling applies to the service declared by virtue of section 250 of the QCA Act comprising the handling of coal at Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal, as defined in more detail in the 2021 DBCT access undertaking approved by the QCA and which came into effect on 1 July 2021.

In making this ruling, the QCA is satisfied that:

- socialising the costs of the 8X expansion is appropriate in this instance, having had regard to the criteria in ss. 120(1) and 138(2) of the QCA Act;
- we would not be prevented under section 119 of the QCA Act from making an access determination, or under section 138(3)(a) of the QCA Act from approving a draft access undertaking, consistent with this ruling; and
- we have complied with natural justice.

The determination document (Determination) attached to this Notice sets out:

- (a) the QCA's reasons for making this ruling;
- (b) any relevant circumstances relating to the service that exist at the time of this Notice, and which the QCA considers to be material to this ruling; and
- (c) those assumptions about future events or matters that the QCA has made and that are considered to be material to this ruling.

The Determination forms part of this Notice.

Subject to section 150K of the QCA Act, this ruling applies for the period commencing on the date of this Notice and ending on the date on which all DBCT access holders, or access seekers with an executed conditional access agreement in relation to 8X Expansion, as at the date of this Notice, have completed at least one periodic review of the terminal infrastructure charge (including any dispute process, if undertaken during such review) applicable to their access agreements.

Professor Flavio Menezes QCA Chairman

18 November 2021

Queensland Competition Authority

Determination

DBIM's application for a price ruling—the 8X expansion

November 2021

© Queensland Competition Authority 2021

The Queensland Competition Authority supports and encourages the dissemination and exchange of information. However, copyright protects this document.

The Queensland Competition Authority has no objection to this material being reproduced, made available online or electronically but only if it is recognised as the owner of the copyright and this material remains unaltered.

Contents

DETERMI	NATION	1
Regulato	ry process	1
1	INTRODUCTION	3
1.1	Background	3
1.2	DBIM's price ruling application	4
1.3	Stakeholder views	5
1.4	Our determination	6
1.5	Application of our ruling	8
2	OUR APPROACH TO THIS INVESTIGATION	10
2.1	Consideration in making a ruling at this time	10
2.2	Our framework to consider the appropriate pricing method	12
2.3	Considering the appropriate allocation of risk between parties	14
2.4	Consideration of the four expansion phases separately	17
3	COST SENSITIVE EXPANSION	18
3.1	Assessment of the 8X expansion being a cost sensitive expansion	18
3.2	Estimating the existing users' TIC, with and without the socialised 8X expansion	19
3.3	Forecasting future capital expenditure	24
4	MATERIALITY OF THE INCREASE TO THE TIC	34
4.1	Estimating the increase to the TIC	35
4.2	Consideration of the materiality of the TIC increase	36
5	INTEGRATION OF THE 8X EXPANSION WITH THE EXISTING TERMINAL	45
5.1	Characteristics of the 8X expansion and the existing terminal	45
5.2	Integration as justification for socialisation	47
6	BENEFITS TO EXISTING USERS OF THE TERMINAL	48
6.1	Cost savings associated with the NECAP program	48
6.2	Reduced risk of throughput loss associated with the NECAP program	49
6.3	Inclusion of NECAP-type work in the 8X expansion	50
6.4	Efficiency, reliability and flexibility of the existing terminal	52
6.5	Reductions to handling charges	54
6.6	Identifying the extent of benefits to existing users	55
7	RISKS TO EXISTING USERS OF THE TERMINAL	57
7.1	Allocation of volume risk to DBCT's existing users	57
7.2	Operational issues that could cause delays or losses for existing users	63
7.3	Allocation of cost risk to existing users	63
APPENDI	X A : ASSUMPTIONS UNDERPINNING OUR PRICE RULING	65
Capacity	gain and capital cost	65

Scope of works	65
Delivery schedule	66
APPENDIX B : LIST OF SUBMISSIONS	67
REFERENCES	68

DETERMINATION

On 16 March 2021, we received an application from Dalrymple Bay Infrastructure Management Pty Limited (DBIM)¹ seeking a ruling on the pricing method applicable to the 8X expansion of the Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal (DBCT or the terminal).

Our determination is that it is appropriate to make the ruling DBIM sought in its application—that is, the applicable pricing method to be applied for the 8X expansion is socialisation—having regard to our obligations under s. 150F of the *Queensland Competition Authority Act 1997* (QCA Act).

We consider that socialisation of the 8X expansion promotes the economically efficient operation of, use of and investment in coal handling services at DBCT, and appropriately balances the legitimate business interests of DBIM with the interests of access seekers, access holders (expansion parties and existing users) and the public interest.²

It is our view that socialising the cost and risk of the 8X expansion amongst all users of DBCT will mitigate the overall risks associated with expanding the terminal. We consider that socialisation of the 8X expansion will maintain cost-reflective price signals to access seekers and access holders.

We consider that socialisation will promote competitive markets, given that the 8X expansion is integrated with the existing terminal component, DBCT is a common-use facility, the existing terminal capacity is fully contracted, and evergreen renewal rights are a feature of existing access arrangements.

While socialisation may increase the terminal infrastructure charge (TIC) for existing users of the terminal³, we consider that the resulting increase will not have an impact on the use of coal handling services at the terminal by existing users, and the expansion will provide benefits to existing users. Additionally, socialisation of the 8X expansion will not materially affect the allocation of risk to existing users.

Our views on the appropriate pricing method for the proposed 8X expansion reflect assumptions about the scope, capacity, cost and schedule of the expansion. Our ruling will not bind our future decision-making where these assumptions do not hold.

Further detail on why we consider socialisation the appropriate pricing method for the proposed 8X expansion are provided throughout our determination.

Regulatory process

DBIM asked us to make a ruling, in accordance with s. 150D of the QCA Act, that the applicable pricing method for the 8X expansion is socialisation.⁴

On 29 March 2021, we commenced our investigation into DBIM's application under part 5, division 7A of the QCA Act.⁵

In accordance with the requirements of s. 150F of the QCA Act, in making a ruling, we must:

¹ Dalrymple Bay Infrastructure Management Pty Limited (DBIM) was previously named DBCT Management Pty Limited (DBCTM). Effective 8 December 2020, DBCTM changed its name to DBIM. The name DBIM is used throughout this determination.

² QCA Act, ss. 120(1)(a)–(d) and 138(2)(a), (b), (d), (e), (h).

³ Users of the existing terminal component are also referred to as existing users in this determination.

⁴ Section 5.12(a)(2)(A) of the 2017 AU provides that DBIM must make an application to the QCA under s. 150D of the QCA Act after the completion of a FEL 2 feasibility study.

⁵ QCA Act, s. 150H.

- be satisfied that we would not be prevented from making an access determination, or approving a draft access undertaking, consistent with the ruling⁶
- comply with natural justice⁷
- have regard to the criteria in ss. 120(1) and 138(2) of the QCA Act.⁸

While DBIM's application was made pursuant to provisions in DBIM's 2017 access undertaking (2017 AU), the 2021 access undertaking (2021 AU) is now in effect.⁹ Importantly, we have not identified any inconsistencies with the 2021 AU that may arise from us making a ruling on this matter, which would impact an access determination made under the 2021 AU.

Way forward

Our ruling states that the appropriate pricing method for the proposed 8X expansion is socialisation. It also sets out the assumptions about future events or matters which underpin our ruling.

We will be bound by our ruling in making an access determination for the declared service at the terminal and deciding whether to approve a draft access undertaking (DAU) relating to the service, subject to s. 150K of the QCA Act which, amongst other things, states that our ruling will not apply where our assumptions do not hold.

The 2021 AU states that we are to provide DBIM and each expansion party notice of the content of our ruling at the time that DBIM submits its terminal capacity expansion application to us for consideration. At that point in time, we are also to provide details of any material changes apparent in the application, including the extent to which the assumptions made in the original ruling are no longer applicable.¹⁰

Should DBIM become aware of a change in circumstances that means the assumptions underpinning the ruling no longer hold (either through the submission of its terminal expansion application, or any other means), it may lodge an application for a further ruling. Should DBIM submit a new application for a ruling, we will assess DBIM's application in accordance with our statutory requirements, as set out under s. 150F of the QCA Act.

⁶ QCA Act, ss. 150F(2)(a), (b).

⁷ QCA Act, s. 150F(3)(a).

⁸ QCA Act, s. 150F(3)(b).

⁹ While DBIM's application was made pursuant to the 2017 AU, we consider this investigation to be a separate regulatory process under part 5, division 7A of the QCA Act.

¹⁰ See s. 12.5(c)(1) of the 2021 AU.

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

DBCT is a common-user coal export terminal servicing mines in the Goonyella system of the Bowen Basin coal fields. The terminal is owned by the Queensland Government through a wholly government-controlled entity, DBCT Holdings Pty Ltd (DBCT Holdings). DBCT Holdings leases the terminal to Dalrymple Bay Terminal Trust (DBT Trust) who in turn subleases the terminal to DBIM.

Since its commissioning in 1983, the terminal has provided coal handling services to the coal industry in central Queensland, enabling the transfer of coal delivered from trains operating on the central Queensland coal network (CQCN) to ships servicing a range of international markets. The current system capacity is 84.2 million tonnes per annum (mtpa).

In recent years, DBIM considered that demand for access to the terminal indicated that further expansion of the terminal may be warranted.

The DBCT 2019 master plan identified a potential expansion pathway for DBCT, based on preliminary studies. The expansion pathway is sequenced to prioritise the works that are expected to yield the greatest capacity gain for the lowest cost. The 8X expansion is the next incremental expansion proposed for the terminal. The 8X expansion is proposed to be constructed in four phases, with detail on the scope of work included in Appendix A.

In considering whether to proceed with the 8X expansion, DBIM, as the provider of a declared service,¹¹ is subject to various obligations under the QCA Act and its access undertaking.

The access undertaking includes an expansion framework that requires DBIM to follow a stagegate process to clarify the scope, standard, cost estimate and deliverables for the proposed expansion in front-end loading (FEL) feasibility studies (FEL 1, FEL 2 and FEL 3).¹²

DBIM initially assessed the capacity and costs of each phase of the 8X expansion in accordance with the requirements of a FEL 1 feasibility study.¹³

During 2019, DBIM proceeded to:

- execute conditional access agreements for the capacity to be made available by the 8X expansion phases
- concurrently execute relevant standard underwriting agreements (SUAs)

¹¹ The handling of coal at DBCT was previously declared under s. 250 of the QCA Act and was re-declared under s. 84 of the QCA Act by order of the Queensland Treasurer on 1 June 2020 (see Queensland Government, *Gazette: Extraordinary*, no. 31, vol. 384, 1 June 2020, p. 267). At the time of us making this determination, the Treasurer's decision to declare the service is subject to judicial review by the Supreme Court of Queensland.

¹² See schedule F of the 2021 AU for the requirements associated with each FEL feasibility study. Each feasibility study builds on the previous study's requirements. The requirements specified in the 2021 AU are consistent with the requirements in the 2017 AU, which was in effect at the time DBIM completed FEL 1 and FEL 2.

¹³ The FEL 1 feasibility study must, among other things, identify possible terminal expansion components that will create additional terminal capacity and consider the associated costs, risks and timeframes for development, as well as the additional capacity that will be created.

commence the FEL 2 feasibility study¹⁴ (FEL 2 study).¹⁵

On 26 February 2021, DBIM completed the FEL 2 study for the 8X expansion.¹⁶ The FEL 2 study confirmed the feasibility of the 8X expansion in the current circumstances, and supported proceeding to a FEL 3 feasibility study, conditional on the pricing method for the 8X expansion being socialisation.¹⁷

Following the completion of the FEL 2 study, DBIM submitted its application for a ruling on the pricing method applicable to the 8X expansion, as required by the 2017 AU (the relevant access undertaking at the time).¹⁸

The 2021 AU replaced the 2017 AU on 1 July 2021. We have not identified any inconsistencies with the 2021 AU that may arise from us making a ruling on this matter.

1.2 DBIM's price ruling application

DBIM's application seeks a ruling that the applicable pricing method for the 8X expansion is socialisation. Socialisation means that the 8X expansion will be treated as forming part of the existing terminal where we are required to make an access determination on access charges or decide whether to approve a DAU. If the 8X expansion is not socialised, then it will be differentiated, meaning that it will be treated as a separate terminal component to the existing terminal.

The access charges for coal handling services at DBCT comprise the terminal infrastructure charge (TIC) and the operation and maintenance charge (handling charge). In 2020–21, the TIC accounted for less than half of existing users' total access charges for coal handling services at DBCT. In addition to DBCT access charges, users of the terminal will also incur other supply chain costs in transporting coal from the mine to the coal export market—including below-rail costs, above-rail costs and other port and shipping costs.

DBIM considered that the 8X expansion is a cost sensitive expansion¹⁹ (i.e. where socialisation of the 8X expansion increases the TIC²⁰ for existing users) (see Table 1). The access undertaking provides that an expansion of this kind would typically be treated as a differentiated expansion component. However, it may be treated as a socialised expansion where circumstances exist that justify socialisation.

¹⁴ The FEL 2 feasibility study builds on the FEL 1 study. See schedule F of the 2021 AU for the requirements of the study.

¹⁵ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 10.

¹⁶ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 4.

¹⁷ DBIM, sub. 1, appendix 1, p. 3.

¹⁸ See s. 5.12(a)(2) of the 2017 AU.

¹⁹ 'Cost sensitive expansion' is defined in section 11.8(a)(2) of the 2021 AU.

²⁰ DBIM's application refers to both the reference tariff and the TIC. While the effective access undertaking at the time DBIM submitted its application (the 2017 AU) referred to changes in the reference tariff, the approach applied to calculate the reference tariff under the 2017 AU is consistent with the approach applied by DBIM to calculate the TIC.

	26-27	27-28	28-29	29-30	30-31	31-32	32-33	33-34	34-35	35-36
Without 8X	2.67	2.92	2.98	3.07	3.16	3.25	3.34	3.31	3.33	3.35
With socialised 8X	2.93	3.20	3.50	3.54	3.67	3.68	3.71	3.71	3.78	3.80

Table 1 DBIM estimate of the existing users' TIC resulting from a socialised 8X expansion (\$/t)

Source: DBIM, sub. 1, p. 37.

DBIM considered that circumstances exist that justify socialisation of the whole of the 8X expansion; consequently, it submitted that the 8X expansion should be socialised—and treated as forming part of the existing terminal.²¹

The circumstances DBIM identified in support of this outcome include that:

- the 8X expansion provides benefits to existing users, including reduced handling charges, reduced non-expansion capital expenditure (NECAP) and reduced throughput losses
- the 8X expansion is fully integrated with existing facilities, with no separable components
- the TIC increases associated with the 8X expansion being socialised are not material
- there is minimal increase in risks to existing users associated with the 8X expansion being socialised—the terminal operates in the same way, throughput losses are minimised and the impact of default is reduced with an increased number of users
- combined capital and operating charges are similar, and overall total access charges as a result of the 8X expansion being socialised are reduced.²²

1.3 Stakeholder views

We provided stakeholders with two opportunities to comment on the proposed pricing method for the 8X expansion: in response to DBIM's application; and in response to our draft determination that socialisation was the appropriate pricing method.

We received responses from AFII, Aurizon Network, BMC, DBIM, Synergies (on behalf of seven existing users²³— referred to as the non-expanding user group throughout our determination) and Whitehaven Coal.²⁴

BMC and Whitehaven Coal supported socialisation of the expansion, on the grounds that, amongst other things, it will operate in an integrated way with the existing terminal component and provide significant benefits to existing users. BMC and Whitehaven Coal also considered that socialisation of the 8X expansion will reduce handling charges, which will offset any increase in existing users' access charges resulting from the expansion.²⁵

The non-expanding user group did not support socialisation, arguing it would:

• materially and disproportionally increase the cost and risk to existing DBCT users

²¹ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 4.

²² DBIM, sub. 1, pp. 23–24.

²³ Anglo American Metallurgical Coal Pty Ltd; BHP Mitsubishi Alliance (BMA); Foxleigh Management Pty Ltd; Glencore Coal Assets Australia Pty Ltd representing Clermont Access Pty Ltd, Oaky Creek Holdings Pty Ltd and Hail Creek Coal Holdings Pty Ltd; Peabody Energy Australia Pty Ltd; Pembroke Olive Downs Pty Ltd; Stanmore Resources Ltd.

²⁴ BMC, the non-expanding user group and Whitehaven Coal provided a response to DBIM's proposal and to our draft determination.

²⁵ BMC, sub. 3, pp. 1–3, sub. 8, pp. 1–2; Whitehaven Coal, sub. 2, p. 3, sub. 9, p. 3.

- result in expanding users not bearing the true costs imposed by the 8X expansion, potentially leading to distortions in other related markets
- create a risk that a decision to expand may be made where the incremental benefits do not justify the incremental costs, leading to a loss of economic efficiency across the terminal and broader coal system.²⁶

The non-expanding user group submitted it is imperative that we consider how to incorporate measures into the pricing framework that mitigate the identified risks socialisation is expected to impose on existing users.²⁷

AFII did not express a view as to whether the expansion should be socialised but considered that we should investigate governance issues with DBIM.²⁸ However, we consider that these issues extend beyond our task of deciding whether to make a ruling that the 8X expansion be socialised.

Aurizon Network stated that we should determine whether socialisation is appropriate by considering each phase of the 8X expansion separately, noting that the net cost per capacity increment of phases 3 and 4 is approximately twice that of phases 1 and 2.²⁹

A list of the submissions is provided at Appendix B.

1.4 Our determination

We consider it appropriate to make the ruling sought by DBIM—that is, the applicable pricing method to be applied for the 8X expansion is socialisation.

Our determination has been made in accordance with our statutory requirements set out under s. 150F of the QCA Act. We have considered all submissions received from stakeholders and had regard to the criteria stated in ss. 120(1) and 138(2) of the QCA Act.

We consider that socialisation of the 8X expansion will promote the economically efficient operation of, use of and investment in coal handling services at DBCT.³⁰ In this regard, we consider:

- Socialising the cost and risk of the 8X expansion amongst all users of DBCT will mitigate the overall risks associated with expanding the terminal. Overall, we consider this to be an appropriate allocation of cost and risk, which will provide for the efficient investment in coal handling services at DBCT and the utilisation of an expanded terminal component.
- The current market outlook and long-term demand forecast for coal handling services at DBCT supports the utilisation of the expanded terminal. Moreover, there is no certainty that existing capacity at the terminal will become available to new access seekers, given the regulatory framework provides for evergreen renewal of access agreements.
- Socialisation will not adversely impact the efficient use of coal handling services by existing users.
- Socialisation of the 8X expansion will maintain cost-reflective price signals to access seekers and access holders, thereby promoting economically efficient investment in, and use of, the terminal. That is, we do not consider that the socialisation of the 8X expansion will

²⁸ AFII, sub. 4, p. 1.

²⁶ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 2, sub. 10, p. 3.

²⁷ Synergies, sub. 10, p. 4.

²⁹ Aurizon Network, sub. 7, pp. 2–4.

 $^{^{30}}$ In accordance with ss. 120(1)(a) and 138(2)(a) of the QCA Act.

necessarily result in existing users cross-subsidising the expansion parties, noting that the 8X expansion will operate in an integrated way with the existing terminal.

We consider that socialisation of the 8X expansion appropriately balances the legitimate business interests of DBIM with the interests of access seekers, access holders (expansion parties and existing users) and the public interest.³¹ Socialisation of the 8X expansion:

- allows DBIM to recover expected revenue that covers the efficient costs of providing access to the expanded terminal and share the volume risk, associated with terminal utilisation, amongst both new and existing users
- reduces the costs and risks of expansion parties and access seekers obtaining access to coal handling services through the expanded terminal component
- may increase the TIC for users of the existing terminal; however, we consider that the
 resulting increase will not have an impact on the use of coal handling services at DBCT by
 existing users, and the expansion will provide benefits to existing users. Additionally,
 socialisation of the 8X expansion will maintain cost-reflective price signals to access seekers
 and access holders and will not materially affect the allocation of risk to existing users
- is in the public interest, as it promotes competitive markets, given that the 8X expansion is integrated with the existing terminal component, DBCT is a common use facility, the existing terminal capacity is fully contracted, and evergreen renewal rights are a feature of existing access arrangements.

Our determination is that socialisation is the appropriate pricing method for the proposed 8X expansion.

Assumptions about future events and matters

Section 150F(4) of the QCA Act states that in making a ruling, we may make assumptions about future events or matters.

Subject to the circumstances and assumptions underpinning the ruling remaining valid, our ruling on the pricing method for the 8X expansion will bind our decision-making, including where we are required to make an access determination on a related matter. In accordance with s. 150K of the QCA Act, if the events or circumstances to which our assumptions relate do not happen as assumed, our ruling no longer applies for the purpose of any access determination or decision whether to approve a DAU.

We consider it appropriate for our ruling to apply to the proposed 8X expansion, as outlined in DBIM's application, including the circumstances and assumptions underpinning the proposed expansion.

The cost and capacity estimates for the 8X expansion phases are based on the circumstances and assumptions adopted for the FEL 2 study. Our assumptions reflect each of these estimates.

The proposed 8X expansion is estimated to increase the system capacity of DBCT from 84.2 mtpa to 99.1 mtpa, through four incremental expansion phases to be commissioned between 2024 and

³¹ In accordance with ss. 120(1)(b)–(d) and 138(2)(b), (d), (e) and (h) of the QCA Act.

2028, at a cost of \$1,276 million in 2020 dollar terms. The gain in system capacity and the cost estimate for each of the four expansion phases are outlined in Table 2.

Table 2	DBIM's estimate of system capacity gain and capital cost (\$2020 terms) associated
	with the 8X expansion

8X expansion phase	Scope	System capacity gain (mtpa)	Cost (\$m)
Phase 1	New SL4 on Berth 3 plus outloading debottlenecking	3.1	246
Phase 2	Stockyard Augmentation plus upgrade ST2, S5-S6-S6A, R1-R2	3.9	229
Phase 3	New RRP4 & IL4 plus upgrades to IL2 & OL2 systems	5.5	461
Phase 4	Complete Row 8 with new wall, RL2A, ST5 & S9	2.4	340
Total		14.9	1,276

Note: An assessment of the engineering and design works and cost estimates for the 8X expansion were completed by the Aurecon Group. The capacity assessments were completed by the Integrated Logistics Company (ILC), the coordinator of the Dalrymple Bay Coal Chain (DBCC).³²

Source: DBIM, sub. 1, p. 12.

We have not specified materiality thresholds for considering whether our ruling is to be maintained should these assumptions become invalid. We consider that the materiality of any change in circumstances is best assessed on a case-by-case basis.

The assumptions underpinning our ruling are outlined in Appendix A.

Costs

Section 150L of the QCA Act states that in making a ruling, we are able to make any order we consider appropriate about the payment, by the prescribed person who applied for the ruling, of costs (or part of the costs) incurred in making the ruling.

Our determination is that DBIM, as the prescribed person³³, should be ordered to pay our incurred costs in the amount to be advised. In negotiating terms of access, the relevant parties may take into consideration the costs associated with the provision of regulatory services related to DBCT.

1.5 Application of our ruling

In making this ruling, we consider that socialisation is the appropriate pricing method for the proposed 8X expansion to apply in any future access determinations or decision whether to approve a DAU.

Section 150K of the QCA Act outlines circumstances in which a ruling does not apply. Where those circumstances exist, our ruling will not bind us for the purpose of any access determination or decision whether to approve a DAU.

Before the 8X expansion commences, DBIM is to complete the FEL 3 feasibility study, followed by a terminal expansion application for our consideration.³⁴

³² DBIM, sub. 1, appendix 1, p. 3.

³³ QCA Act, s. 150C.

³⁴ See s. 12.5 of the 2021 AU.

At the time of receiving a terminal capacity expansion application, we are required to provide DBIM and each expansion party with notice of the content of our ruling and details of any material changes apparent in the application. This includes the extent to which the assumptions made in the original ruling are no longer applicable.³⁵

Should DBIM become aware of a change in circumstances that means the assumptions underpinning the ruling no longer hold (either through the submission of its terminal expansion application, or any other means), DBIM, as the prescribed person³⁶, may lodge an application for a ruling.³⁷

Should DBIM submit a new application for a ruling, we will assess DBIM's application in accordance with our statutory requirements³⁸.

³⁵ See s. 12.5(c)(1) of the 2021 AU.

³⁶ See s. 150C of the QCA Act for the definition of a prescribed person.

³⁷ QCA Act, s. 150D(1).

³⁸ As set out under s. 150F of the QCA Act.

2 OUR APPROACH TO THIS INVESTIGATION

Our task is to decide whether to make the ruling sought in DBIM's application—that the applicable pricing method to be applied for the 8X expansion is socialisation.³⁹

In making our determination that socialisation of the proposed 8X expansion is appropriate, we have had regard to each of the factors outlined in ss. 120(1) and 138(2) of the QCA Act. Our reasons for making a ruling to socialise the 8X expansion are outlined in this determination, with reference to those issues that are relevant to the statutory criteria.

We have received submissions in relation to our approach to assessing DBIM's application. While BMC, DBIM and Whitehaven Coal supported our draft determination,⁴⁰ the non-expanding user group considered that we:

- intend to make a ruling based on preliminary and poorly substantiated information
- have not had sufficient regard to, nor adequately demonstrated how we have had regard to, all of the statutory factors in ss. 120(1) and 138(2) of the QCA Act
- have not considered the need for measures to provide incentives for DBIM to effectively manage risks associated with the 8X expansion
- have not had sufficient regard to the different characteristics of the four phases of the 8X expansion.⁴¹

The following outlines our assessment approach, having regard to specific matters raised by stakeholders.

2.1 Consideration in making a ruling at this time

Having received DBIM's application, we consider it appropriate to make a ruling on the pricing method for the 8X expansion at this point in time.

Making a ruling provides certainty to DBIM and terminal users as to whether we will treat an expansion as part of the existing terminal component, or whether it is to be considered a differentiated terminal component, in any future access determination or decision whether to approve a DAU.

We consider that regulatory certainty at this stage in the process provides for the efficient investment in coal handling services at DBCT. A ruling will enable DBIM to adequately assess the risks associated with investing in an expansion, before deciding whether to proceed to the next stage of the expansion framework.

Moreover, without such certainty, expansion parties may not have sufficient information to assess the viability of their investment decisions, in terms of both developing or expanding mining

³⁹ DBIM's access undertaking also provides for us to make a ruling on how we intend to treat any different terms for an access agreement in respect of the 8X expansion. We have not considered this matter as part of our investigation. DBIM stated that different terms do not apply to any access agreements for the 8X expansion capacity. The access agreements will be in the form of the approved standard access agreement (SAA) at the time of the shipping commencement date—in accordance with clause 3.2 of the conditional access agreements entered into between DBIM and the expansion parties. See DBIM, sub. 1, p. 13.

⁴⁰ BMC, sub. 8, p. 1; DBIM, sub. 6, p. 1; Whitehaven Coal, sub. 9, p.1.

⁴¹ Synergies, sub. 10, pp. 7–11, 32; Aurizon Network, sub. 7, pp. 2–4.

operations. Uncertainty as to the pricing method to apply to an expansion may also have negative implications for obtaining funding for expansions.

A ruling made at this time will be based on forecast information and circumstances that may change over time. Therefore, we have set up our ruling so that it will only bind our decision making where specified assumptions hold.⁴² These assumptions relate to the scope, capacity, cost and schedule of the 8X expansion.

In this instance, we consider it appropriate for our ruling to remain binding if there is a change in circumstances beyond these assumptions. This includes matters related to forecasts of the future NECAP program, handling charges and demand outlook. We consider that revisiting our ruling for such matters would erode the regulatory certainty that is provided by making a ruling at this stage of the expansion process.

Importantly, we are of the view that the information we have obtained on these matters is sufficiently robust to allow us to form a view on the appropriate pricing method for the 8X expansion at this time.

Making a ruling based on the information available

The non-expanding user group held concerns that we were making our ruling based on preliminary and poorly substantiated information. It stated that it was unclear why we considered it appropriate to use such high-level information that lacks supporting evidence, including in assessing whether socialisation is consistent with increasing overall economic efficiency and considering the impact of the expansion on existing users. The non-expanding user group considered our approach inconsistent with that applied in other regulatory processes.⁴³

In any ruling process, and particularly a ruling in respect of a future expansion as contemplated by the 2021 AU, a degree of uncertainty around the future is unavoidable. In this case, we have addressed this uncertainty both by reasonably testing the robustness of the analysis and forecasts provided by DBIM, as well as stating the assumptions that are relevant to our ruling.

We acknowledge the non-expanding user group's concerns that the assumptions drawn from the FEL2 study in relation to the 8X expansion are inherently uncertain⁴⁴ and there is uncertainty around whether sufficient system capacity exists to achieve the terminal expansion capacity.⁴⁵ We have included these matters as assumptions underlying our ruling. To the extent that those assumptions do not hold in the future, the ruling will no longer constrain our future decision making.

We do not consider it appropriate to include DBIM's forecast asset replacement program, forecast handling charges or long-term demand outlook (which were raised of areas of concern by the non-expanding user group)⁴⁶ as assumptions underlying our ruling.

⁴² Section 150K (2)(c) of the QCA Act states that a ruling does not apply in circumstances where the event or matter to which an assumption relates, has not happened as assumed.

⁴³ Synergies, sub. 10, pp. 13, 18-19.

⁴⁴ Synergies, sub. 10, p. 12.

⁴⁵ Synergies, sub. 10, pp. 17–18.

⁴⁶ Synergies, sub. 10, pp. 15–16, 21–24.

While the nature of this information is that it may change over time⁴⁷, we do not consider that this will affect our determination that the appropriate pricing method for the 8X expansion is socialisation.

In this regard, we have assessed this forecast information and consider it sufficiently robust for us to form a view on the appropriate pricing method for the 8X expansion, having regard to the statutory criteria.⁴⁸ We have also considered the extent to which changes to cost forecasts may affect our conclusions.⁴⁹ We are satisfied that the conclusions outlined throughout this determination are sufficiently robust to make a ruling on the pricing method to apply to the 8X expansion.

Therefore, we consider it appropriate for our ruling to remain binding if there is a change in circumstances beyond these characteristics of the 8X expansion.

We do not consider that making a ruling in this instance will undermine the veracity of information submitted by DBIM in future regulatory processes.⁵⁰ Our determination to make a ruling is dependent on the fact we are sufficiently satisfied that our conclusions are robust, despite the forecast uncertainty. It remains in DBIM's interests to provide information and evidence in support of its positions in future.

2.2 Our framework to consider the appropriate pricing method

We consider that the expansion pricing principles contained in DBIM's access undertaking⁵¹ provide a useful and considered framework to inform our assessment of the appropriate pricing method, and within which to consider and apply the statutory factors outlined in ss. 120(1) and 138(2) of the QCA Act.

Amongst other things, application of the expansion pricing principles provides a framework for considering the interests of the relevant parties, as well as the overall efficiency implications resulting from the adoption of a particular expansion pricing approach.

The expansion pricing principles state that:

- where socialisation of the 8X expansion is expected to decrease the TIC for users of the existing terminal, the applicable pricing method for the 8X expansion is socialisation
- where socialisation of the 8X expansion is expected to increase the TIC for existing users (a cost sensitive expansion), the applicable pricing method for the 8X expansion is differentiated, except where circumstances exist that justify socialisation.

⁴⁷ Even once the expansion is commissioned, uncertainty will remain around matters such as the long-term demand outlook for the terminal, future NECAP expenditure and handling charges.

⁴⁸ Throughout our investigation, we have sought to verify the claims made in DBIM's application. In doing so, we have conducted our own analysis and requested DBIM to provide additional evidence to substantiate its claims.

⁴⁹ See, for example, section 4.1.

⁵⁰ Synergies, sub. 10, p. 19.

⁵¹ See section 11.8(a) of the 2021 AU. For completeness, we consider the expansion pricing principles specified in the 2017 AU are consistent with section 11.13(a) of the 2017 AU, which was in effect at the time DBIM submitted its application.



Figure 1 Pricing pathways associated with the application of the expansion pricing principles

In applying the expansion pricing principles, we first assess whether socialisation of the expansion will increase the TIC for users of the existing terminal, to establish whether the proposed 8X expansion is a cost sensitive expansion.⁵²

If the proposed 8X expansion is deemed a cost sensitive expansion, we then consider whether circumstances exist that justify socialisation, giving consideration to:

- the materiality of the increase in the existing users' TIC as a result of socialising the 8X expansion
- the extent to which the 8X expansion will operate wholly or partly, in an integrated way with the existing terminal, or as a standalone development
- the extent to which the 8X expansion is likely to benefit users of the existing terminal
- any differences in the risks of providing access to users of the existing terminal in respect of additional terminal capacity created
- any other factor that we consider relevant.

These expansion pricing considerations therefore inform and provide important commercial context for our application of the statutory factors in s120(1) and 138(2).

⁵² While the expansion pricing principles contained in the 2021 AU refer to changes in unit costs, rather than the TIC, this reflects that the 2021 AU does not outline an approach for establishing the TIC, with the TIC to be negotiated between the relevant parties. We consider that the approach applied to calculate the TIC in this determination will allow us to determine the impact of the socialised 8X expansion on unit costs for existing users. We have calculated the TIC with reference to the unit costs (per tonne) DBIM incurs in providing access to the relevant coal handling services.

Summary of expansion pricing principles analysis

In applying the expansion pricing principles, our analysis of the 8X expansion shows that socialisation will increase the TIC for users of the existing terminal (see section 3). However, we have formed the view that:

- this increase is unlikely to lead to changes in the use of coal handling services at DBCT by existing users, noting the nature of the 8X expansion and the characteristics of DBCT's existing users. We also consider that socialisation of the 8X expansion will maintain costreflective price signals to access seekers and access holders (see section 4)
- the 8X expansion will operate in an integrated way with the existing terminal, in light of the characteristics of the 8X expansion and the existing terminal (see section 5)
- the 8X expansion will provide benefits to existing users, through cost savings and reduced risk of throughput losses associated with the NECAP program, greater opportunity for trading of short-term capacity, improved reliability and flexibility of terminal operations and reduced handling charges (see section 6)
- socialisation of the 8X expansion will not materially affect the allocation of risk to existing users, with the existing regulatory arrangements and the characteristics of related seaborne coal markets working to mitigate existing users' exposure to risk resulting from the socialised expansion (see section 7).

These findings inform our view of whether socialisation is the appropriate pricing method for the 8X expansion, having regard to ss. 120(1) and 138(2) of the QCA Act.

2.3 Considering the appropriate allocation of risk between parties

In making our determination, we have considered the extent to which both socialisation and differentiation allocates risk to the various parties. Socialising the cost and risk of the 8X expansion amongst all users of the common-user terminal will mitigate the overall risks associated with expanding the terminal. Overall, we consider this to be an appropriate allocation of cost and risk, which will promote efficient investment in coal handling services at DBCT and utilisation of the expanded terminal (see section 7).

The non-expanding user group submitted that once a decision is made to use a socialised pricing method, there are significant risks around the assumptions that underpin our assessment that will largely be borne by existing users. The non-expanding user group was of the view that socialisation does not place any accountability on DBIM to put in place effective arrangements with new users to manage these risks. In this regard, there will be no adverse consequence to DBIM if the benefits to existing users are overstated; volumes fall short of expectations; or expansion parties default with insufficient security in place. The non-expanding user group considered this approach inconsistent with encouraging efficient investment or efficiently allocating risk.

We acknowledge that there are risks that the information underpinning our assessment may change over time, which could have implications for existing users. However, after considering these risks, we are of the view that the appropriate pricing method for the 8X expansion is socialisation. As outlined above, we have sought to verify the claims made in DBIM's application and considered the extent to which changes to cost forecasts over time may affect our conclusions.

Furthermore, we do not consider the risk that scope, capacity, cost or schedule of the 8X expansion differs materially from forecasts is allocated to existing users following a ruling to

socialise the expansion. To the extent that such factors are relevant or material to our determination, they are listed as assumptions underpinning our ruling (see Appendix A) and therefore our ruling ceases to bind us if they prove materially inaccurate. In that sense, this risk is more directly borne by DBIM (and potentially expanding users), given that the certainty provided by the ruling in relation to any future access determination or DAU decision we may make, will fall away in those circumstances.

Consideration of additional risk mitigation measures

The non-expanding user group submitted that we did not have sufficient regard to the strategic importance of including appropriate incentives in our determination. It considered it was imperative that we consider how we can incorporate measures into the assumptions underpinning our ruling that mitigate the identified risks, should a decision be made to socialise.⁵³

In making this determination, we have considered the measures proposed by the non-expanding user group to mitigate the identified risks that it expects socialisation to impose on existing users. For the reasons outlined in Table 3, we do not consider it appropriate to incorporate these additional risk mitigation measures into our assumptions.

Additional risk mitigation measures proposed	Our analysis
Specifying an assumption for our ruling that assets for each expansion phase will not be	We do not consider it necessary for our assumptions to specify that each expansion phase will not be added to the capital base until the incremental demand commences.
permitted to be added to DBIM's capital base until such time that the incremental demand commences.	The 2021 AU already provides mechanisms which will incentivise DBIM to effectively manage the risk of expansion parties defaulting on their access agreements. This includes processes for us to consider whether we will accept the expansion assets. ⁵⁵ We are required to undertake an assessment of the prudency of expansion costs, having regard to the scope of the works undertaken, among other things.
	A ruling as to the appropriate pricing method to apply to the proposed 8X expansion does not equate to the acceptance of the 8X capital expenditure for future TIC negotiations.
Specifying an assumption that in the event of a default by an expansion party under	We do not consider it appropriate for our assumptions to specify that the security DBIM is entitled to seek under the regulatory framework will be deducted from the capital base where an expansion party defaults.
an access agreement, the value of the security that DBIM is entitled to seek under the regulatory framework will be deducted	The 2021 AU already provides mechanisms which will incentivise DBIM to effectively manage the risk of expansion parties defaulting on their access agreements.

Table 3 Consideration of additional risk mitigation measures proposed by the non-expanding user group⁵⁴

⁵³ Synergies, sub. 10, p. 4.

⁵⁴ Synergies, sub. 10, pp. 35–41.

⁵⁵ Section 12.5 (f)(1) of the 2021 AU states that we will accept the scope of the proposed expansion if it is consistent with the current terminal master plan and system master plan and applicable laws; the 60/60 requirement has been complied with; and the expansion will result in an increase in system capacity and will not be expected to result in terminal capacity significantly and disproportionately exceeding system capacity for more than 12 months after the expansion is completed. If these conditions are not met, we will assess the scope of work having regard to a number of factors, including the extent of current contracted demand, likely future demand and any spare capacity considered appropriate, and the need for capital works to accommodate that demand (s. 12.5(m)(3)) of the QCA Act).

Additional risk mitigation measures proposed	Our analysis
from DBIM's capital base used for calculation of access charges.	Further, we do not consider it appropriate for our assumptions to specify how such risks are to be allocated to parties. Under the 2021 AU, parties are to negotiate the terms of access they consider appropriate, including the arrangements for updating the TIC through the regulatory period. As such, existing users are to negotiate access terms to address any risk associated with updating the TIC through the regulatory period.
	Establishing appropriate arrangements for addressing any risks associated with socialisation of an expansion requires consideration of the relevant circumstances. Furthermore, arrangements for managing such risk may have formed the basis for negotiating access arrangements between the parties.
Specifying an assumption that explicitly identifies the assumed contracting of	We do not consider it appropriate for our assumptions to specify that premiums will apply to expansion parties in the event of demand deterioration.
DBCT's expanded capacity until 2054 and, to the extent	Such an arrangement does not provide for the socialisation of the cost and risk of the 8X expansion amongst all users of the common-user terminal.
that this outcome does not occur, applying a premium to the expansion volumes to provide that expansion parties continue to achieve their anticipated recovery of the 8X investment costs.	For the reasons outlined in our determination, we consider that socialisation of demand risk amongst existing and expansion users is appropriate. Amongst other things, we consider that socialising the cost and risk of the 8X expansion amongst all users of DBCT will mitigate the overall risks associated with expanding the terminal. This will promote the efficient investment in coal handling services at DBCT and utilisation of an expanded terminal component.
	In making this determination, we have formed the view that the current market outlook supports the utilisation of the 8X expansion at DBCT, and not that expansion users will necessarily continue to use the expansion until 2054.
Specifying an assumption that DBIM will extend the	We do not consider it appropriate for our assumptions to include the extension to the economic life of DBCT.
nominal economic life of the terminal beyond 2054.	As part of our determination, we have formed the view that the current market outlook supports the utilisation of the 8X expansion at DBCT. We do not consider that such a conclusion provides for the extension of the nominal economic life of the terminal beyond 2054.
	The inclusion of such an assumption would increase the risk that the TIC would fail to generate expected revenue for the coal handling services at DBCT that is at least enough to meet the efficient costs of providing access.
	As part of our investigation of DBIM's 2019 DAU, we reviewed the expected economic life of DBCT and concluded that the available evidence supports maintaining the economic life of the terminal until June 2054.
 Specifying the following matters as assumptions: the major NECAP program with and without the 8X 	We do not consider it appropriate for our assumptions to include the major NECAP program (also referred to as the asset replacement program in this determination), handling charges or the expected impact on other terminal costs.
 the forecast terminal operating and maintenance cost with 	In making our ruling, we have assessed the reasonableness of the underlying information forming the basis of our determination and are of the view that this information is sufficiently robust to allow us to form a view on the appropriate pricing method for the 8X expansion at this point in time.
 and without the 8X expansion the expected impact on other terminal costs as a 	Making a ruling at this point in time, provides regulatory certainty, which we consider will promote efficient investment in coal handling services at DBCT. Revisiting our ruling for the proposed assumptions would erode the regulatory certainty that is provided.
result of the 8X expansion, including DBIM's operating costs and rehabilitation costs.	Moreover, it is unclear the extent to which this will address the inherent uncertainty associated with forecasting future costs. Even once the expansion is commissioned, uncertainty will remain around matters such as the long- term demand outlook for the terminal, future NECAP expenditure and handling charges.

2.4 Consideration of the four expansion phases separately

The non-expanding user group and Aurizon Network submitted that we have not had sufficient regard to the different characteristics of the four phases of the 8X expansion, in particular given the nature and expected costs of phases 3 and 4.⁵⁶

Aurizon Network considered that the bundling of the four phases into a single socialised expansion project has the potential to distort investment incentives and pricing signals.⁵⁷ The non-expanding user group submitted that we should explicitly consider whether the circumstances to justify socialisation apply to each of the phases of the 8X program.⁵⁸

Our task is to decide whether to make the ruling sought in DBIM's application. Therefore, we have assessed whether socialisation is the appropriate pricing method for the entire 8X expansion.

The characteristics of each of the four phases of the 8X expansion have informed our determination that socialisation is the appropriate pricing method for the proposed 8X expansion.

Given our determination that it is appropriate to socialise the proposed 8X expansion in its entirety, we have not sought to determine the outcomes from partial socialisation.

Where such a determination has been made, we do not consider it appropriate to disaggregate an expansion to consider whether it is 'more' appropriate for only certain components of an expansion to be socialised. The DBCT master plan identifies a potential expansion pathway for DBCT based on preliminary studies, with the expansion pathway sequenced to prioritise works that are expected to yield the greatest capacity gain for the lowest cost. The potential expansion pathway is also likely to reflect other efficiency considerations including, amongst other things, minimising impacts on existing operations of DBCT.

⁵⁶ Aurizon Network, sub. 7, pp. 2–3; Synergies, sub. 10, p. 32.

⁵⁷ Aurizon Network, sub. 7, p. 3.

⁵⁸ Synergies, sub. 10, p. 32.

3 COST SENSITIVE EXPANSION

In assessing whether the 8X expansion should be socialised, we have considered whether the expansion is cost sensitive—that is, whether socialisation increases the TIC for users of the existing terminal.

DBIM considered that the 8X expansion will be a cost sensitive expansion, with socialisation increasing the TIC for users of the existing terminal by around \$0.42/t (13 per cent) on average.⁵⁹

Other stakeholders also considered that socialisation of the 8X expansion would increase the existing users' TIC, meaning the 8X expansion should be considered a cost sensitive expansion.⁶⁰ However, the non-expanding user group stated that DBIM had not provided sufficient information to assess the expected outcomes of alternate pricing models.⁶¹

We consider the 8X expansion to be a cost sensitive expansion. We are of the view that the 8X expansion will increase the existing users' TIC.

This finding has informed our view of whether socialisation is appropriate, having regard to ss. 120(1) and 138(2) of the QCA Act.

3.1 Assessment of the 8X expansion being a cost sensitive expansion

We have assessed that socialisation of the 8X expansion, as proposed in DBIM's application, will increase the existing users' TIC. This constitutes a cost sensitive expansion.

In forming this view, we have estimated the extent to which a socialised 8X expansion will increase the existing users' TIC, noting we have separately given consideration to the materiality of the increase to the TIC (see section 4).

Table 4 provides our estimates of the existing users' TIC, with and without the socialised 8X expansion. While we have considered the impact on the existing users' TIC over the remaining economic life of the terminal, our TIC estimates are presented up to 2035–36 for presentational purposes.⁶²

ТІС	26-27	27-28	28-29	29-30	30-31	31-32	32-33	33-34	34-35	35-36
Without 8X	2.55	2.76	2.87	2.91	3.04	3.13	3.19	3.19	3.22	3.24
With socialised 8X	2.86	3.13	3.43	3.47	3.59	3.59	3.63	3.63	3.70	3.72

Table 4 Our estimates of the existing users' TIC resulting from a socialised 8X expansion (\$/t)

Note: Estimated TICs are only presented up to 2035–36 for the purpose of presentation. Source: QCA analysis.

Our view that the 8X expansion is a cost sensitive expansion is consistent with the position of DBIM and other stakeholders. While there are some differences between our estimates of the

⁵⁹ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 36. This average is over a period of 10 years, from 2026–27 to 2035–36.

⁶⁰ Whitehaven Coal, sub. 2, p. 4; BMC, sub. 3, p. 2; Synergies, sub. 5, p. 17.

⁶¹ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 19–20.

⁶² Our analysis indicates that the biggest increase in the TIC occurs in 2028–29 (\$0.56/t).

existing users' TIC and DBIM's estimates, these are immaterial, reflecting minor differences in the modelling approach applied.⁶³

While BMC stated that a report commissioned by users of the terminal was largely able to replicate DBIM's estimates, it considered there may be some differences among stakeholders about how to model the price impacts.⁶⁴ The non-expanding user group considered that DBIM had not provided sufficient information to allow stakeholders to understand whether the costing parameters used are appropriate.⁶⁵

We have sought to provide stakeholders with transparency as to the approach and assumptions adopted for our assessment of the TIC, having regard to the approach applied by DBIM. This includes both the modelling approach applied by DBIM and the assumptions applied to forecast costing parameters.

3.2 Estimating the existing users' TIC, with and without the socialised 8X expansion

We consider the approach applied by DBIM to estimate the existing users' TIC, with and without the socialised 8X expansion, is appropriate for establishing whether the 8X expansion is a cost sensitive expansion.

The approach applied is consistent with schedule C, Part A of the 2017 AU. An approach for establishing the TIC has not been outlined in the 2021 AU, with the TIC to be agreed between the relevant parties. However, we consider that DBIM's approach will allow us to establish whether socialisation of the 8X expansion will increase the unit costs for existing users (see section 11.8(a)(2) of the 2021 AU).

DBIM estimated the existing users' TIC with reference to the notional contracted tonnage and annual revenue requirement associated with the respective scenarios.

Figure 2 DBIM's approach for estimating the TIC



The notional contracted tonnage is the aggregate annual contract tonnage for that financial year.

The annual revenue requirement represents the amount of revenue that we determine DBIM is entitled to earn in that financial year to fully recover the costs it incurs in providing access to the relevant coal handling services, which includes an adequate rate of return on the value of assets employed.

⁶³ DBIM confirmed there were minor errors and inconsistencies in the modelling submitted as part of its application, which we have corrected for in our modelling of the existing users' TIC, with and without the socialised 8X expansion.

⁶⁴ BMC, sub. 3, pp. 1–2.

⁶⁵ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 19–20.

3.2.1 Notional contract tonnage

DBIM's estimates of notional contracted tonnage for the life of the asset align with the independent expert's assessment of system capacity for the existing terminal (84.2 mtpa) and the expanded terminal (see Table 5).

8X expansion phase	Incremental capacity expansion (mtpa)	Total system capacity (mtpa)	Commissioning date
Existing	-	84.2	-
Phase 1	3.1	87.3	2027
Phase 2	3.9	91.2	2027
Phase 3	5.5	96.7	2028
Phase 4	2.4	99.1	2029

Table 5 Estimated system capacity associated with the proposed 8X expansion

Source: DBIM, sub. 1, p. 13.

We consider DBIM's estimates of notional contract tonnage to be reasonable, having regard to the long-term demand for access to DBCT.

The non-expanding user group considered that DBIM's socialised pricing application must be based on credible forecasts, including a long-term demand profile for the terminal. This included providing an estimate of terminal demand beyond the initial 10-year contract term for expansion parties. The non-expanding user group submitted that DBIM has simply assumed that all existing contracts will be renewed beyond 2028.⁶⁶

We have examined a range of information, including recent independent advice from RMI, to form a view on the long-term demand for access to DBCT (see section 7.1). We consider that the current market outlook supports the ongoing utilisation of the expanded terminal capacity for the life of the asset (until 2054). Additionally, DBCT is currently fully contracted, as is the capacity associated with the proposed 8X expansion (through conditional access agreements). The current access queue also shows that there is likely demand for further terminal capacity, should it become available. We therefore consider it reasonable, for the purpose of estimating the existing users' TIC, to assume that the terminal's notional contracted tonnage aligns with system capacity.

We recognise that the independent expert's assessment of system capacity for the expanded terminal is based on the 8X expansion, as proposed in DBIM's application. On this basis, we consider it appropriate to adopt DBIM's estimates of system capacity associated with the 8X expansion as an assumption underpinning our assessment of the appropriate pricing method to apply to the 8X expansion.

3.2.2 Annual revenue requirement

DBIM estimated annual revenue requirements with respect to:

- the existing terminal, which is based on the existing regulatory asset base (RAB)
- forecast capital expenditure over the assessment period, which includes non-expansion capital expenditure (NECAP) and, where relevant, capital expenditure incurred as part of the 8X expansion (8X capital expenditure).

⁶⁶ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 19–21.



Figure 3 Annual revenue requirement components to estimate future TICs

For clarity, DBIM has applied a consistent approach to identify the existing users' TIC both without the 8X expansion and with the socialised expansion. The annual revenue requirements associated with the existing terminal and the general NECAP program are the same for these two scenarios. Differences between the two scenarios reflect:

- differences in capital expenditure associated with changes to the asset replacement program resulting from the 8X expansion⁶⁷
- the inclusion of capital expenditure associated with the 8X expansion.

To estimate the annual revenue requirement, DBIM applied the building block method, consisting of:

- a return on the regulatory asset base
- a return of the regulatory asset base
- corporate overheads
- a regulatory levy
- a remediation allowance
- indexation of the regulatory asset base
- net tax allowance.

This approach is consistent with the methodology used for estimating the TIC in the 2017 AU regulatory period.

The annual revenue requirement associated with the existing terminal

We are of the view that DBIM's approach for estimating its annual revenue requirement associated with the existing terminal is reasonable, as it produces an annual revenue requirement

⁶⁷ This includes the removal of the reclaimer RL2 and refurbishment (instead of replacement) of the existing shiploader (SL1–3), where the 8X expansion occurs.

that is consistent with the annual revenue requirement we approved as part of DBIM's 2020–21 RAB roll-forward under the 2017 AU (approved on 18 June 2020).⁶⁸

DBIM applied the 2017 AU regulatory pricing parameters. In this regard, we note:

- the WACC, taxation, forecast inflation and annual remediation allowance assumptions and methods from the 2017 AU have been applied
- the existing assets in the RAB are depreciated in line with their remaining asset lives
- corporate overheads are escalated annually by forecast inflation
- no line item for the regulatory levy has been forecast after 2021–22, reflecting the fact that it is a cost pass-through.

The non-expanding user group was concerned that DBIM's forecasts were based on outdated 'placeholders' and that DBIM had not had regard to the material changes that have occurred since the 2017 AU. The non-expanding user group considered that the building block elements assumed in the assessment of the TIC should be clearly disclosed, as well as any changes to this information as a result of 8X expansion.⁶⁹

Estimating the existing users' future TIC is inherently uncertain and requires assumptions to be made about the future pricing parameters that will apply. While in practice these inputs and assumptions will change over time⁷⁰, we consider it reasonable to apply the 2017 AU parameters to forecast DBIM's future annual revenue requirement.

These parameters reflected the approved regulatory arrangements at the time of DBIM's application. We note that the 2021 AU does not establish pricing parameters—with the TIC to be negotiated between the relevant parties. Further, DBIM's application was made prior to us releasing our final position papers on WACC and issues related to inflation.

Importantly, DBIM has used a consistent approach for estimating the annual revenue requirement for the provision of access, with and without the socialised 8X expansion—differences between the two scenarios reflect differences in forecast capital expenditure. This provides a reasonable approach for assessing the extent to which a socialised 8X expansion is likely to increase the unit costs for existing users.

Moreover, it is not clear that the 8X expansion itself will materially affect the calculation of these pricing parameters over time. We note that future rehabilitation costs may change as a direct result of the expansion. However, we do not consider that the 8X expansion is likely to have a material effect on future rehabilitation cost estimates, given that:

- rehabilitation costs account for between 2 and 4 per cent of the annual revenue requirement used to estimate the TIC
- the 8X expansion is developed within the existing footprint of DBCT
- the 8X expansion entails substantial replacement or refurbishment of existing assets

⁶⁸ QCA, DBCT Management 2020–21 annual revenue requirement, reference tonnage, terminal infrastructure charge and 2019–20 NECAP, letter to DBCT Management Pty Ltd, 18 June 2020. DBIM has also made minor amendments to reflect recent updates to outturn inflation and the regulatory levy.

⁶⁹ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 20–21.

⁷⁰ For instance, our final decision on DBIM's 2020 DAU has reviewed the remediation allowance. The model applies an annual allowance of \$7,020,000, consistent with the 2017 AU model.

 the existing stackers, stacker/reclaimers, reclaimers, rail receival pits and shiploaders form about 6 per cent of the total direct costs for remediation in recent expert advice obtained from Advisian.⁷¹ These costs have not been estimated for each asset. Therefore, an estimate of the additional direct remediation costs associated with new assets integrated as part of the 8X expansion would likely be much lower.

The annual revenue requirement associated with forecast capital expenditure

While we acknowledge the inherent uncertainty in forecasting future capital expenditure, we consider DBIM's approach of making adjustments to the RAB to account for forecast capital expenditure in future years is appropriate. We consider that changes to capital expenditure resulting from the 8X expansion are relevant for our assessment of the pricing method to apply to the 8X expansion.

The non-expanding user group submitted that a reliable indicator of the likely TIC increase relies upon the costs and related pricing analysis being sufficiently robust. It considered that DBIM's socialised pricing application must be based on credible forecasts and required that the long-term NECAP profile—together with supporting information demonstrating how this has been optimised to the long-term demand profile—be provided.⁷²

We consider that DBIM's estimate is based on the best available information at the time of making its application. We consider that a reasonable forecast of the NECAP program is sufficient to estimate existing users' TIC for our consideration of the appropriate pricing method to apply for the 8X expansion. We do not consider it reasonable, or practical, to require DBIM to produce detailed forecasts of the future NECAP program at this time, because of:

- the inherent uncertainty associated with forecasting the future NECAP program
- the role of the operator in determining future NECAP programs.⁷³

Additionally, any NECAP expenditure included in the RAB will be subject to the approval processes outlined in the relevant regulatory framework. On this basis, we have not sought to conduct a detailed prudency and efficiency assessment of DBIM's future NECAP at this time. Rather, for the purpose of our price ruling investigation, we have sought to test the reasonableness of the assumptions applied to forecast future NECAP.

We have given consideration to the reasonableness of DBIM's approach for forecasting future capital expenditure, including future NECAP programs and the 8X expansion. This is outlined in section 3.3.

To estimate the existing users' TICs in its application, DBIM applied an asset life of 20 years to its forecast of the future NECAP programs. DBIM later confirmed that the asset lives associated with the forecast NECAP program should be 50 years, truncated to the end of the economic life of the terminal in 2054.⁷⁴ DBIM's forecast of the capital expenditure associated with the proposed 8X expansion is also depreciated over the remaining economic life of the terminal (until 2054).

DBIM also appears to have estimated capital expenditure forecasts in 2020 dollars real terms to model the existing users' TICs. For the purpose of our assessment, we consider DBIM's approach

⁷¹ Advisian, Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal Rehabilitation Cost Review (Revision 1), February 2021.

⁷² Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 20–22.

⁷³ The day-to-day operational management of the terminal is subcontracted to DBCT Pty Ltd as the 'operator' under an operations and maintenance contract. DBCT Pty Ltd is an independent service provider owned by most of the existing users of the terminal.

⁷⁴ DBIM, response to information requested, 14 May 2021.

is reasonable. It is not clear that escalating capital expenditure forecasts by a forecast inflation rate necessarily provides for a more robust consideration of how the socialised 8X expansion will affect existing users' TIC. DBIM has applied the same approach for forecasting capital expenditure in both scenarios.

3.3 Forecasting future capital expenditure

3.3.1 Future NECAP for the existing terminal

We have reviewed DBIM's forecast future NECAP program for the existing terminal. In doing so, we have considered the reasonableness of:

- the general NECAP program forecasts, which include smaller, one-off projects and studies, and ongoing phased maintenance capex programs, such as safety guards and offshore pile wrapping
- the forecast asset replacement program, which incorporates larger standalone NECAP projects, such as machine replacements, in accordance with the operator's asset replacement program.

General NECAP program

For the existing terminal, DBIM's application adopted general NECAP program estimates between 2021–22 and 2025–26 that reflect forecast NECAP work plans provided in the annual and five-year operations, maintenance and capital plans for the period 2020–21 to 2024–25 (2020–21 to 2024–25 OMCPs).

We consider the NECAP work plans in the 2020–21 to 2024–25 OMCPs provide a reasonable basis for forecasting the general NECAP program. These work plans are ultimately recommended for implementation by the independent operator of the terminal.

While these forecasts have since been updated in the 2021–22 to 2025–26 OMCP, we do not consider this update changes our view that the 8X expansion will be a cost sensitive expansion. Importantly, DBIM has applied the same expenditure forecasts for the general NECAP program expenditure with the socialised 8X expansion.

DBIM noted that NECAP work plans had not yet been determined for future years.⁷⁵ DBIM applied an assumed annual forecast of \$30 million for the general NECAP program over this period.⁷⁶ We consider this is a reasonable basis for forecasting general NECAP work programs for this period, as:

- a general expenditure assumption reflects the fact that a recommended NECAP program has yet to be established
- DBIM's estimate is consistent with forecast NECAP expenditure to be included in the RAB (average of \$30 million per year from 2020–21 to 2024–2025), which reflects the NECAP work plans⁷⁷

⁷⁵ DBIM, response to information requested, 14 May 2021. We note that DBIM has not sought to forecast future NECAP beyond 2044–45.

⁷⁶ This does not include interest during construction (IDC) or financing costs.

⁷⁷ The updated NECAP work plan provides an average forecast over the period 2021–22 to 2025–26 of \$26 million per year.

• DBIM's estimate is not inconsistent with the approved historical NECAP expenditure included in the RAB (average of \$28 million per year from 2017–18 to 2020–21⁷⁸).

Again, we note that DBIM has applied the same expenditure forecasts for the general NECAP program expenditure with the socialised 8X expansion.

DBIM stated that the expansion includes a significant component of NECAP-type work, which would need to be provided for in the ongoing NECAP program if the expansion did not proceed.⁷⁹ However, it has not sought to capture any cost savings to the general NECAP program as a result of the 8X expansion in its estimates of the TIC.

We consider this approach appropriate, as the extent to which NECAP-type work will be included in the general NECAP program is currently unclear, given the inherent uncertainty in forecasting the future NECAP program at this stage.

Asset replacement program

DBIM's application identified an asset replacement program for the existing terminal over the forecast period (Table 6).

Machine	Туре	Current age	Replacement age	NECAP program (\$m)
SR2	Stacker-reclaimer	38	42	60
B1	Berth 1 (repairs only)	38	42	15
SL1	Shiploader	38	42	100
SR6	Stacker-reclaimer	26	33	60
SL2	Shiploader	23	32	100
SR5	Stacker-reclaimer	22	31	60
RL2	Reclaimer	26	34	54
ST2	Stacker	19	31	41
SL3	Shiploader	18	31	100
RL1	Reclaimer	17	33	54
SR3A	Stacker-reclaimer	13	30	60
SR4A	Stacker-reclaimer	13	31	60
ST3	Stacker	13	32	41
ST4	Stacker	13	33	41
RL3	Reclaimer	7	30	54
Total	-	-	-	900

Table 6 DBIM's forecast asset replacement works

Source: DBIM, sub. 1, p. 33.

⁷⁸ Adjustments have been made to remove IDC and financing costs, as well as costs associated with construction of the RL3 in 2017, which we consider would be captured under the asset replacement program.

⁷⁹ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 7.

These assets are intended to be refurbished or replaced with similar facilities as part of the NECAP program.

DBIM's forecast asset replacement program for the existing terminal reflects the operator's longterm asset management program contained in the 2020–21 to 2024–25 OMCPs. The operator's responsibilities include maintaining long-term asset plans and monitoring end-of-life triggers on assets.⁸⁰ Its long-term asset management plan (Figure 4) is based on the design life of the relevant facilities, amended to take account of their condition and any expected maintenance.⁸¹



Figure 4 Key decision points and design life for DBCT assets—2020-21 to 2024-25 OMCPs

Source: DBIM, sub. 1, p. 32.

The non-expanding user group raised concerns with the level of confidence in the timing and cost of the major NECAP program. It noted that the major NECAP program was only specified at a high level and considered that the operator's long-term asset management plan does not reflect a firm capital program based on maximising availability. It stated that detailed analysis will be undertaken to ensure the optimal investment decision is made as the timing for expected major equipment replacement approaches.⁸²

The non-expanding user group considered that with the expected remaining economic life of the terminal being 33 years⁸³, it would be expected that options to extend the life of existing assets will be closely examined, and there will be a preference to avoid investment in major asset replacement as the economic life of the terminal approaches. It also stated that where there is uncertainty about long-term usage of the terminal, this will significantly reduce the attractiveness of bringing forward NECAP in order to reduce ongoing operating costs.⁸⁴

We consider that the operator's long-term asset management plan contained in the 2020–21 to 2024–25 OMCPs reflected the best available information at the time of DBIM's application. As noted above, this plan takes into account a range of factors, including the condition of the asset

⁸⁰ DBIM, response to information requested, 14 May 2021.

⁸¹ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 32.

⁸² Synergies, sub. 5, p. 29.

⁸³ As currently assessed through recent regulatory processes.

⁸⁴ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 23, 29.

and any expected maintenance. Additionally, the operator, being user owned, has an incentive to operate the terminal efficiently, including with respect to its asset replacement decisions over time, to the benefit of all users.

We note that a five-year OMCP for the period 2021–22 to 2025–26 (2021–22 to 2025–26 OMCP) has since been developed. As part of the 2021–22 to 2025–26 OMCP, the long-term asset management plan for major DBCT assets has been updated. In this regard, the long-term asset management plan suggests that a number of major assets may be replaced or refurbished at a later date than anticipated in the 2020–21 to 2024–25 OMCP.

We acknowledge that the timing of the asset replacement program will affect the estimation of existing users' TIC in future years. In particular, the delay of asset replacement will affect the timing that capital expenditure is incurred and considered as part of access charge negotiations between the parties. Furthermore, additional operation and maintenance costs may be incurred as assets are operated beyond their design life.

While we consider that DBIM's estimation of the asset replacement costs are reasonable for the purpose of determining whether the 8X expansion will be a cost sensitive expansion, we have considered the updates to the long-term asset management plan, where relevant, throughout our analysis.





Source: DBCT Pty Ltd, Corporate Plan FYEJ 2022—FYEJ 2026, April 2021, p. 43.

As outlined in section 7.1, we consider the long-term demand for access to DBCT supports the ongoing utilisation of the expanded terminal capacity for the life of the asset (until 2054), with the terminal's system capacity remaining fully contracted.

We consider the adoption of a replacement strategy, rather than refurbishment, reflects the recent experience at the terminal, where approaches that limit throughput losses have been approved. For example, DBIM noted decisions to replace the stacker-reclaimer SR1 with the reclaimer RL3 (in 2013), and replace the stacker ST1 with a new stacker ST1A (currently in

progress).⁸⁵ We also note that DBIM's recent⁸⁶ concept screening study report for shiploader SL1 determined that the throughput loss to refurbish the shiploader was unacceptable, with replacement being the only feasible option.⁸⁷ We are of the view that throughput impacts are particularly relevant in the current climate, where contracted tonnage aligns closely with system capacity.

Assets associated with the asset replacement program have been depreciated over the remaining economic life of the terminal (over 33 years, to 2054). Having regard to the expected replacement age of these assets (see Table 6), we consider this approach is reasonable.

DBIM provided cost estimates associated with its asset replacement program. DBIM acknowledged that the cost estimates were conceptual at this stage—noting the cost estimates did not have the same level of accuracy as the capital expenditure estimates outlined in the FEL 2 study for the 8X expansion.

We have considered the reasonableness of these cost estimates, having regard to the forecasting approaches applied by DBIM (see Box 1).⁸⁸ Although the costs associated with the asset replacement program are likely to change over time, we consider these estimates are reasonable for the purpose of determining whether the 8X expansion will be a cost sensitive expansion.

⁸⁵ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 32.

⁸⁶ Issued for use in March 2020.

⁸⁷ Where a new fourth shiploader is not in place and assuming contracted demand remains at or near its current level—DBIM, response to information requested, 18 June 2021.

⁸⁸ DBIM provided information on its forecasting approach in response to information requests throughout our investigation.

Box 1 Reasonableness of asset replacement works cost estimates

The estimated cost of replacing a stacker is \$41 million. This is based on the stacker ST1 replacement project, which was approved by the users for implementation and is currently in progress.⁸⁹ Further, contract pricing for the ST1 replacement project is consistent with the FEL 2 study budget pricing for the new stacker ST5 included in the 8X project.⁹⁰ We consider the forecasting approach and associated costs are reasonable.

The estimated cost of replacing a reclaimer is \$54 million. This is based on escalated costs associated with the installation of reclaimer RL3, which replaced stacker-reclaimer SR1 (the SR1 replacement project).⁹¹ The reclaimer RL3 costs were approved for inclusion in the RAB after we conducted a thorough assessment of the project, engaging Flagstaff as an independent expert. Noting that reclaimer RL3 was commissioned in 2014, we accept that escalation of these costs may be warranted and note DBIM has applied a simple escalation approach, adopting an annual increase of 2.5 per cent.⁹² DBIM also demonstrated that its estimated cost of replacing a reclaimer is consistent with the budget pricing in the FEL 2 study for installing reclaimer RL2 (as part of the 8X expansion), plus estimated ancillary costs (reflecting 25 per cent of the budget pricing, consistent with installation of RL3).⁹³ We consider the estimated cost reasonable at this stage, noting the consistent outcomes between the two forecasting approaches.

The estimated cost of replacing a stacker-reclaimer is \$60 million. This is based on the estimated cost to replace a reclaimer (\$54 million) plus \$6 million to account for the additional complexity and weight of the machine.⁹⁴ In Flagstaff's 2014 assessment of the SR1 replacement project, it was acknowledged that a difference in weight would impact costs. The operator has indicated that stacker-reclaimer SR3A is approximately 10 per cent heavier than reclaimer RL3.⁹⁵ However, it is not clear why the increase in weight is associated with an increase in costs to the scale of \$6 million. Despite this, we have adopted DBIM's estimated costs, noting that no cost savings have been identified to the stacker-reclaimers as a result of the 8X expansion. The estimated cost of \$60 million has also been adopted by the operator in its five-year OMCP.

The estimated cost of replacing a shiploader is \$100 million. This is based on estimated costs to replace shiploader SL1 in the recent⁹⁶ concept screening study report.⁹⁷ As part of this report, Aurecon provided a conceptual-level cost estimate for the construction of a replacement shiploader SL1 of \$97 million. It stated that recent budget pricing of similar machines for other clients provided a good level of confidence in the estimate. We consider this provides a reasonable estimate. DBIM rounded Aurecon's cost estimate up to \$100 million.⁹⁸ We consider this reasonable—the cost estimates for the shiploaders have also been rounded up where the 8X expansion occurs. The estimated cost of \$100 million has been adopted by the operator in its five-year OMCP.

The estimated cost for Berth 1 works is \$15 million. This is based on estimates provided by the operator, as the independent service provider.⁹⁹ Therefore, we consider the estimated cost is reasonable. DBIM has clarified that Berth 1 works are related to structural repairs to the girder supporting the rail for shiploader SL1.

Despite expenditure occurring over an extended period of time, DBIM has provided all cost estimates in 2020 dollar terms (\$2020) and has not sought to escalate these costs. Importantly, this approach has been consistently applied to determine the existing users' TIC, both with and without the socialised 8X expansion.

3.3.2 Future NECAP for the expanded terminal

We have reviewed DBIM's forecast future NECAP program for the expanded terminal and found:

• the general NECAP program is consistent with that applied for the existing terminal

⁸⁹ Expenditure related to the ST1 replacement project was first incurred in 2018—DBIM, response to information requested, 14 May 2021.

⁹⁰ DBIM, response to information requested, 18 June 2021.

⁹¹ DBIM, response to information requested, 14 May 2021.

⁹² DBIM, response to information requested, 18 June 2021.

⁹³ DBIM, response to information requested, 18 June 2021.

⁹⁴ DBIM, response to information requested, 14 May 2021.

⁹⁵ DBIM, response to information requested, 18 June 2021.

⁹⁶ Issued for use in March 2020.

⁹⁷ DBIM, response to information requested, 18 June 2021.

⁹⁸ DBIM, response to information requested, 18 June 2021.

⁹⁹ DBIM, response to information requested, 18 June 2021.

• the asset replacement program differs from that applied for the existing terminal to reflect changes resulting from the 8X expansion.

Differences in the asset replacement program

Compared to the asset replacement program for the existing terminal, DBIM's forecast asset replacement program for the expanded terminal:

- removes the replacement of the reclaimer RL2
- provides for refurbishment (instead of replacement) of the existing shiploaders (SL1–3)
- delays the refurbishment of both shiploader SL2 and shiploader SL3 by three years.¹⁰⁰

Table 7	DBIM's forecast asset replacement works for the SL1, SL2, SL3 and RL2 assets
---------	--

Machine	Туре	No expansion NECAP program (\$m)	8X expansion NECAP program (\$m)
SL1	Shiploader	100	50
SL2	Shiploader	100	50
RL2	Reclaimer	54	0
SL3	Shiploader	100	50

Source: DBIM, sub. 1, p. 33.

We consider DBIM's proposed adjustments to the asset replacement program are reasonable.

With regard to the removal of reclaimer RL2 from the asset replacement program, DBIM's proposed 8X expansion (and the associated capital expenditure) includes the replacement of RL2 as part of phase 4 of the 8X expansion.

In terms of the shiploaders, DBIM considered that installation of the new shiploader SL4 would allow for refurbishment of the existing shiploaders, rather than replacement. As noted previously, while refurbishment has typically provided the cheaper alternative, the associated throughput losses have meant replacement of assets is the preferred option. However, DBIM considered that installation of the SL4 would enable the existing shiploaders (SL1–3) to be refurbished with no consequential throughput loss (see Table 7), as SL4 would effectively serve as a spare shiploader.¹⁰¹

¹⁰⁰ DBIM's initial application included variances in commissioning dates across several other assets, with and without the socialised 8X expansion. However, DBIM has since confirmed that the asset replacement program is forecast to be the same across both scenarios, except with regard to the existing shiploaders and reclaimer RL2. Variances in commissioning dates were due to the different cash flows that DBIM has since aligned—DBIM, response to information requested, 14 May 2021.

¹⁰¹ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 14.

Table 8	DBIM's estimates of the cost and throughput losses associated with replacemen		
	and refurbishment of SL1–3		

Activity	Cost (\$m)	Throughput loss (mt)
Replacement of SL1–3, no 8X expansion	300	10
Refurbishment of SL1–3, with 8X expansion	150	0102

Source: DBIM, sub. 1, pp. 14, 33.

The non-expanding user group questioned the adoption of refurbishment where the 8X expansion occurs. It stated that given the increased system capacity from the higher utilisation of the outloading systems will have been committed to new users, the acceptability of then removing a shiploader for the extended period of time required for refurbishment needs to be further substantiated, based on expected demand. It stated detailed modelling of system capacity impacts, including assumptions, is required to confirm the reasonableness of DBIM's assumptions, including consideration of the risks of unplanned outages over a longer outage period that may come with refurbishment compared to replacement.¹⁰³

We have considered the reasonableness of DBIM's cost and throughput estimates associated with replacement and refurbishment of shiploaders SL1–3 (see Box 2).

Based on the 8X expansion proposed in DBIM's application, our understanding is that expansion capacity will not be available until return of the refurbished shiploader SL1.¹⁰⁴ The new shiploader SL4 will serve as a spare shiploader at the terminal, allowing for all three outloading strings to be utilised, even where one of the shiploaders cannot be operated for an extended period. As noted by DBIM, the terminal will have the ability to schedule maintenance around major shutdowns.¹⁰⁵ We consider this would include shutdowns associated with refurbishment, allowing continued operation of three outloading strings to achieve throughput requirements associated with forecast demand.

Where refurbishment provides a cheaper alternative to replacement, with minimal impact on throughput, we consider refurbishment of the existing shiploaders a reasonable approach.

We consider DBIM's approach of delaying refurbishment of both shiploader SL2 and shiploader SL3 by three years reasonable. DBIM considered having a spare shiploader at the terminal will allow for additional outages and extended maintenance of these assets, extending their useful lives.¹⁰⁶

¹⁰² Assuming that outloader OL2 and shiploader SL2 upgrades occur before the refurbishment of shiploader SL 1— DBIM, sub. 1, p. 16.

¹⁰³ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 29.

¹⁰⁴ DBIM, response to information requested, attachment 1, 18 June 2021.

¹⁰⁵ DBIM, response to information requested, 18 June 2021.

¹⁰⁶ DBIM, response to information requested, 14 May 2021.
Box 2 Reasonableness of throughput and cost estimates for shiploaders SL1–3

DBIM's estimated cost to replace the existing shiploaders (\$100 million per shiploader) is based on estimates provided by Aurecon in the recent¹⁰⁷ concept screening study report for shiploader SL1, which we consider reasonable.

The associated throughput loss is also based on analysis in the recent concept screening study report. Throughput losses equivalent to 3.4 mt for replacement of shiploader SL1 reflect the replacement strategy proposed by Aurecon.¹⁰⁸ We consider this report provides a reasonable indication of throughput losses expected with replacement.

DBIM assumed that a similar replacement strategy will be applied for SL2 and SL3, resulting in total throughput losses for replacing the three shiploaders of 10 mt¹⁰⁹. We consider this approach appropriate, noting no detailed modelling has taken place for SL2 and SL3 at this time.

If the 8X expansion proceeds, DBIM considered refurbishment of the existing shiploaders will be the preferred option, costing \$50 million per shiploader. This is also based on analysis conducted in the recent concept screening study report for shiploader SL1. In the study it was determined that the low-cost refurbishment option for SL1 would cost \$48.3 million.¹¹⁰ We consider this provides a reasonable reflection of the costs associated with refurbishment. While DBIM has rounded costs to \$50 million, a similar approach was adopted for the replacement of shiploaders where the 8X expansion does not occur.

Refurbishment was considered the preferred option, as it provides a cheaper alternative to replacement, and where the 8X expansion occurs, throughput impacts are forecast to be minimal. DBIM considered that throughput losses associated with refurbishment of SL1 could be as low as 0 mt, based on analysis by Aurecon as part of the FEL 2 study, which assumes outloader OL2 and shiploader SL2 upgrades occur before the refurbishment of shiploader SL1, and the new shiploader SL4 is operational before refurbishment of shiploader SL1. DBIM also noted that shiploader SL3 must be available for operation, and all three existing outloading strings must be available for operation to achieve a throughput loss of 0 mt.¹¹¹

There are a number of assumptions on the sequencing of construction and shutdowns that must hold in order for there to be no throughput losses associated with refurbishment of SL1. However, we consider that DBIM and the operator, acting reasonably, would seek to achieve refurbishment of SL1 in a manner that has minimal impact on throughput at the terminal.

In terms of shiploaders SL2 and SL3, DBIM stated that there will be no throughput losses, as refurbishment will commence after the expansion is completed and SL1 is refurbished. It considered it reasonable to assume that with a new SL4 and a refurbished SL1, the overall maintenance load will be reduced for a period of time, and the terminal will have the ability to schedule maintenance around major shutdowns. This would allow all three outloading systems to be available and in use where one shiploader cannot be operated for an extended period—for example, due to refurbishment of the machine.¹¹²

On this basis, we consider it reasonable to assume that refurbishment of the existing shiploaders where the 8X expansion occurs (and the new SL4 is commissioned) will have minimal impact on throughput.

Except for the identified changes to the reclaimer RL2 and existing shiploaders, it is not clear that the 8X expansion will have an impact on the asset replacement program in a material way over the remaining economic life of the terminal (to 2054). While the 8X expansion does include new assets, after considering the expected replacement age of similar existing assets (see Table 6), we do not expect these to be included in the asset replacement program prior to 2054.

3.3.3 8X capital expenditure

In estimating the socialised TIC, DBIM has applied capital expenditure that aligns with the forecast 8X expansion costs, as outlined in DBIM's application and the accompanying FEL 2 study (see Table 9).

¹⁰⁷ Issued for use in March 2020.

¹⁰⁸ DBIM, response to information requested, 18 June 2021.

¹⁰⁹ Rounded down from 10.2 mt—DBIM, response to information requested, 18 June 2021.

¹¹⁰ DBIM, response to information requested, 18 June 2021.

¹¹¹ DBIM, response to information requested, 18 June 2021.

¹¹² DBIM, response to information requested, 18 June 2021.

Expansion phase	Cost (\$m)
Phase 1	246
Phase 2	229
Phase 3	461
Phase 4	340
Total	1,276

Table 9Forecast capital expenditure of the proposed 8X expansion, in \$2020 terms

DBIM has also allocated the forecast costs associated with the FEL studies to its phase 1 expansion cost estimate.

The non-expanding user group submitted that the FEL 2 study scope and costs are not yet sufficiently robust, with some elements not yet determined to be within or out of scope. For example, it is understood that in phase 1, an outloading optimisation scope has been generated for further study in FEL 3, including reclaim bucketwheel upgrades, surge bin control system modifications and hatch change automation software.¹¹³

We recognise that the capital expenditure estimates reflect the expansion, as proposed in DBIM's application, which is based on the circumstances and assumptions adopted for the FEL 2 study. We accept that the scope of the expansion may change as further studies are carried out. We consider it appropriate to adopt DBIM's capital expenditure estimates for the 8X expansion as an assumption underpinning our assessment of the appropriate pricing method to apply to the 8X expansion.

Source: DBIM, sub. 1, p. 12.

¹¹³ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 20.

4 MATERIALITY OF THE INCREASE TO THE TIC

In determining whether circumstances exist that justify socialisation of the 8X expansion, we have considered the materiality of the increase in the existing terminal's TIC from socialising the 8X expansion.

DBIM estimated that the socialisation of the 8X expansion would increase the TIC for existing users by an average of \$0.42/t (13 per cent) between 2026–27 and 2035–36. It did not consider this increase to be sufficiently material for existing users.

BMC considered that any increase in the TIC will not be material, and the total access charges payable by access holders will decrease by a marginal amount.¹¹⁴ Whitehaven Coal also considered that the 8X expansion will result in only a modest increase in existing users' TIC and that the total access charge will likely decrease.¹¹⁵

The non-expanding user group considered that DBIM's estimated increase in the existing users' TIC is a material increase. It also considered that DBIM's estimated TIC misrepresents the true long-term impact of socialisation.¹¹⁶ In assessing the materiality of the impact on the existing users' TIC, the non-expanding user group stated that the focus of our assessment should be the extent to which it is likely to impact on effective cost-reflective pricing for the expansion.¹¹⁷

We estimate that socialisation of the 8X expansion may increase existing users' TIC by up to \$0.56/t (19.7 per cent).

Given the nature of the 8X expansion and the characteristics of DBCT's existing users, in this particular instance, we do not consider that such an increase will have an impact on the use of coal handling services at DBCT by existing users, as:

- the TIC is only a small proportion of total mine production and supply chain costs
- mines that are serviced by DBCT are characterised as having comparatively higher profit margins, compared to mines in other metallurgical coal producing regions
- despite high levels of volatility in traded coal prices, the Queensland coal industry has been fairly resilient to coal price cycles
- a reduction in handling charges will likely offset much of the increase in existing users' access charges as a result of a socialised 8X expansion.

We also consider that socialisation of the 8X expansion will maintain cost-reflective price signals to access seekers and access holders.

These findings have informed our view of whether socialisation is appropriate, having regard to ss. 120(1) and 138(2) of the QCA Act.

¹¹⁴ BMC, sub. 2, p. 2.

¹¹⁵ Whitehaven Coal, sub. 3, p. 1.

¹¹⁶ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 25.

¹¹⁷ Synergies, sub. 10, pp. 31–32.

4.1 Estimating the increase to the TIC

Based on our estimate of the TIC, with and without the socialised 8X expansion, we consider that the TIC for existing users would increase on average by \$0.47/t (15 per cent) between 2026–27 and 2035–36 (Table 10).¹¹⁸ We have given consideration to the estimated change in the TIC over the life of DBCT (up until 2054), with the biggest increase in the TIC occurring in 2028–29 (\$0.56/t).

TIC (\$/t)	26-27	27-28	28-29	29-30	30-31	31-32	32-33	33-34	34-35	35-36
Without 8X	2.55	2.76	2.87	2.91	3.04	3.13	3.19	3.19	3.22	3.24
With socialised 8X	2.86	3.13	3.43	3.47	3.59	3.59	3.63	3.63	3.70	3.72
Difference	0.31	0.37	0.56	0.56	0.55	0.46	0.43	0.44	0.48	0.48
Change (%)	12.2	13.4	19.7	19.2	18.0	14.9	13.6	13.8	14.9	14.8

Table 10 Estimated change in existing users' TIC resulting from a socialised 8X expansion (\$/t)

Note: Estimated TICs are only presented up to 2035–36 for the purpose of presentation. Source: QCA analysis.

The non-expanding user group considered that DBIM's TIC estimates misrepresent the true longterm impact of socialisation, as DBIM implicitly assumes that the terminal's system capacity is fully contracted over the full economic life of the terminal.¹¹⁹ For the purpose of estimating the existing users' TIC, we consider it reasonable to assume that the terminal's system capacity is fully contracted over the full economic life of the terminal (as outlined in section 3.2.1). Separately, we have considered the extent that existing users are exposed to volume risk associated with the utilisation of DBCT (see section 7).

The non-expanding user group submitted that the major NECAP program is a significant driver of the TIC estimate. It considered that there is a high degree of uncertainty around the timing and expenditures in this program.¹²⁰

The difference between the existing users' TIC, with and without the socialised 8X expansion, reflects:

- differences in capital expenditure associated with changes to the asset replacement program resulting from the 8X expansion¹²¹
- the inclusion of capital expenditure associated with the 8X expansion.

We acknowledge there will be inherent uncertainty in forecasting the costs associated with the asset replacement program. Therefore, we have also given consideration to potential variations in the cost savings achieved through the asset replacement program. In this regard, we note that if the overall cost savings estimated from the removal of the reclaimer RL2 and refurbishment (instead of replacement) of the existing shiploader (SL1–3) were to decrease by 10 per cent, this

¹¹⁸ In its application, DBIM estimated that the socialisation of the 8X expansion would increase the TIC for existing users by an average by \$0.42/t (13 per cent) between 2026–27 and 2035–36. DBIM confirmed there were minor errors and inconsistencies in the modelling submitted as part of its application, which we have corrected for in our modelling of the existing users' TIC, with and without the socialised 8X expansion.

¹¹⁹ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 5, 21.

¹²⁰ Synergies, sub. 10, p. 15.

¹²¹ This includes the removal of the reclaimer RL2 and refurbishment (instead of replacement) of the existing shiploader (SL1–3), where the 8X expansion occurs.

would increase the difference between the estimated TICs by around \$0.03 per annum, on average.

We have also given consideration to updates to the operator's long-term asset management program (in the 2021–22 to 2025–26 OMCP) since we commenced our investigation. While the updates to the operator's long-term asset management program suggest delaying the replacement of various assets, we note:

- there has been no update to the operator's long-term asset management program related to the shiploaders
- the replacement of reclaimer RL2 has been delayed by approximately 10 years.

We have estimated that a 10-year delay to the replacement of the RL2 will result in the following change to existing users' TIC, without the 8X expansion:

- an average annual decrease of \$0.06 from 2030–31 to 2039–40
- an average annual increase of \$0.02 from 2040–41 to 2053–54.

We have considered these potential variations to our TIC estimates in assessing the materiality of the increase in the existing terminal's TIC resulting from socialising the 8X expansion.

4.2 Consideration of the materiality of the TIC increase

There is no specific threshold, in terms of the size in dollar terms, that applies in considering the materiality of the increase to the TIC. The effect of an increase to the TIC will vary, depending on the varying characteristics of the expansion and the circumstances of existing users.

In considering the materiality of the TIC increase, we consider it appropriate to have regard to expected size of the increase, as well as the broader impact on existing users. In considering the impact on existing users, we have had regard to whether:

- the estimated increase to the TIC affects the use of coal handling services at DBCT by existing users
- socialisation of the 8X expansion would maintain cost-reflective price signals to access seekers and access holders.

In assessing materiality, we consider that changes to handling charges resulting from the 8X expansion are a relevant consideration for our assessment of the pricing method to apply to the 8X expansion. These charges provide for the recovery of operating and maintenance costs incurred at the terminal and are paid by existing users on a per tonne basis. Handling charges, combined with the TIC, make up the total access charges paid by existing users.

DBIM noted that the operating and maintenance costs associated with the terminal are not part of its revenue requirement—because of the nature of the operation of the terminal, in which the terminal operator is owned by terminal users rather than the terminal owner.¹²² DBIM submitted that the revenue requirement for regulated entities typically includes the operating cost of the facilities. It considered that the expansion pricing principles would likely have been based on access charges, if the operator was not owned by users.¹²³

¹²² DBIM stated that the operation and maintenance contract was grandfathered from the previous ownership structure at the time the terminal was privatised, which entrenched DBCT P/L as the operator of the facility.

¹²³ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 59. DBIM noted that this would be comparable to the expansion pricing principles outlined in Aurizon Network's 2019 DAU.

In contrast, the non-expanding user group considered that the merits of socialisation should not simply be considered through an assessment of the anticipated impact on the total access charge. In this regard, the non-expanding user group noted our position in our investigation on DBIM's 2015 DAU that using the TIC as an initial basis for assessment may be preferable, because the use of total access charges can place more emphasis on cost allocation issues (introducing greater forecasting risk and potential error).¹²⁴

Although there will be inherent uncertainty in forecasting handling charges, we are of the view that the 8X expansion will likely decrease the handling charges paid by existing users. Moreover, we consider that changes to total access charges, not just the TIC, will influence the extent to which socialisation of the 8X expansion will affect the use of coal handling services at DBCT by existing users.

4.2.1 The use of coal handling services at DBCT by existing users

Given the nature of the 8X expansion and the characteristics of DBCT's existing users, in this particular instance, we consider that an increase to the TIC of up to \$0.56/t (and on average \$0.47/t between 2026–27 to 2035–36) is unlikely to have an impact on the use of coal handling services at DBCT by existing users, or negatively affect the economic viability of already operating investments.

Moreover, we do not consider that changes to the timing and expenditures associated with the forecast asset replacement program are likely to have implications for the economic viability of already operating investments. In this regard, we note that the effect of any deferred asset replacement, or reduction in replacement costs, will be to decrease the TIC for existing users.

DBIM said the expected increase in TIC did not appear to be material for existing users, including having regard to reference points that indicate the considerations of an investor in determining whether to continue operating or investing in the Hay Point catchment. DBIM also observed that major NECAP work scheduled in the 10-year averaging period from 2026–27 to 2035–36 is estimated to increase the TIC by \$0.68/t—and that users have not objected to TIC increases that have been triggered by NECAP alone.¹²⁵

The TIC accounts for a small proportion of the total cost of producing and delivering coal to DBCT that is incurred by existing users of DBCT.

In relation to mine operating costs, DBIM's June 2018 submission to our declaration review contained annual forecasts of production costs per tonne for individual mines in Queensland—as prepared by AME. Based on the information provided at the time, the forecast unit production cost of existing coal mines in Queensland that produce predominantly metallurgical coal is \$95.1/t in 2021 (average cost based on 24 coal mines).¹²⁶

The supply chain cost for existing users will also incorporate below-rail, above-rail, coal handling and other port and shipping costs. As part of our declaration review, we estimated an average supply chain cost of \$12.80/t for Goonyella system users accessing DBCT. The cost of railing the coal to port accounted for over half of the supply chain cost estimate.¹²⁷

¹²⁴ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 22. See QCA, *DBCT Management's 2015 draft access undertaking*, final decision, November 2016, p. 242.

¹²⁵ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 25.

¹²⁶ QCA, Part C: DBCT declaration review, final recommendation, March 2020, p. 161.

¹²⁷ QCA, *Part C: DBCT declaration review*, final recommendation, March 2020, p. 21.

Moreover, the mines that are serviced by DBCT are characterised as having comparatively higher profit margins, compared to other mines in metallurgical coal producing regions. Based on information provided by AME, the Dalrymple Bay Infrastructure (DBI) prospectus stated that Bowen Basin metallurgical coal mines generally have favourable margins relative to mines from other regions globally. Contributing factors are:

- the high-quality metallurgical coal products from the Bowen Basin, which realise strong prices
- the favourable and well understood geology, which supports low operating costs via highproductivity underground longwall and low strip ratio open-cut mining
- the relatively low port and rail transportation costs.¹²⁸

While strong coal prices have driven stable demand for coal handling services at DBCT in recent years, coal markets are cyclical in nature. High levels of volatility in traded coal prices have been a feature of global coal markets.



Figure 6 Historical and forecast metallurgical coal prices

Note: Metallurgical spot and contract prices are real (2020 dollars). Source: DBI 2020, Prospectus, November, p. 39. Based on AME analysis.

In this regard, the Queensland coal industry has been fairly resilient to coal price cycles, performing well in terms of annual coal exports during periods of severe volatility in both coking and thermal coal prices.



Figure 7 Queensland coal terminal's throughput over the past 10 years

Source: DBI 2020, Prospectus, November, p. 49. Based on AME analysis.

¹²⁸ DBI, *Prospectus*, November 2020, p. 43.

Additionally, despite the inherent uncertainty in forecasting handling charges, we consider that a reduction in handling charges will likely offset much of the increase in existing users' access charges as a result of a socialised 8X expansion. As noted above, we consider that changes to the total access charges resulting from the 8X expansion are relevant in considering the impact of socialisation on the use of coal handling services at DBCT by existing users.

Reduction in handling charges

We are of the view that the 8X expansion will decrease the handling charges paid by existing users on a per tonne basis, given the nature of the expansion.

DBIM estimated that the 8X expansion will reduce ongoing handling charges for existing users by about 11 per cent on average after the completion of the expansion. This is because:

- the bulk of the additional system capacity provided by the 8X expansion is derived from the additional stockyard storage space (which incurs no additional handling charges) and replacing lower capacity equipment with new higher capacity equipment (which generally requires no additional operators or maintainers compared to the equipment being replaced)
- new equipment with improved design, materials and technology requires less maintenance. For example, the IL1 and SL1 were designed for a higher level of in situ maintenance, which was appropriate at the time when labour was a less significant component of maintenance costs. The IL4 and SL4 instead provide for a high level of modularity, which facilitates quick and safe replacement of larger modular components, reducing downtime and the related throughput losses—which result in reduced maintenance labour costs
- new equipment is designed to be operated more easily and safely, with minimal risk of damage, and with improved performance and improved material handling requiring less cleaning; accordingly, the cost of labour for operations is lower
- components for new equipment are more energy efficient, which reduces the cost of electricity per tonne of capacity compared with the older systems being replaced.¹²⁹

The non-expanding user group also acknowledged that the 8X expansion could lead to a reduction in the average handling charges, given:

- the extent to which existing equipment is being replaced by new, higher capacity equipment with commensurately lower operating and maintenance costs
- a spreading of fixed/overhead costs among greater contracted tonnes.¹³⁰

However, the non-expanding user group considered that there is significant uncertainty around future operations and maintenance costs, given both the uncertainty around future demand and inherent uncertainty in operating a coal terminal.¹³¹

There will be an element of uncertainty in forecasting handling charges. We have given consideration to the reasonableness of DBIM's approach for forecasting handling charges for the existing terminal (see Box 3). We consider that the operator's forecasts provide a reasonable estimate of future handling charges, noting the independent user-owned terminal operator oversees the day-to-day operations and maintenance of the terminal and is responsible for some long-term asset management and maintenance planning.

¹²⁹ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 14.

¹³⁰ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 26–27.

¹³¹ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 27.

In considering the forecast handling charges for existing users, the operator's estimate of handling charges for the existing terminal is forecast to be between 3.22/t and 3.26/t for the period of 2021–22 to 2024–25.¹³² In comparison, the incremental handling charge for the additional capacity of the 8X expansion is forecast by the operator to be 0.62/t (Table 11).

Table 11	Additional handling charges due to the 8X expansion
----------	---

8X expansion phase	Estimated handling costs (\$'000)	Incremental capacity of expansion (mtpa)	Incremental handling charge (\$/t)
Phase 1	5,283	3.1	1.70
Phase 2	259	3.9	0.07
Phase 3	3,110	5.5	0.57
Phase 4	604	2.4	0.25
Total	9,254	14.9	0.62

Source: DBIM, sub. 1, p. 60.

The incremental handling charges associated with the 8X expansion component are forecast to be around one-fifth (on a per tonne basis) of the handling charges associated with the existing terminal. We consider that the socialised 8X expansion will result in a reduction to handling charges for existing users where handling charges for the expanded terminal are socialised amongst all users.

¹³² Based on QCA analysis and the 2020-21 to 2024-25 OMCP.

Box 3 Forecasting future handling charges for DBCT

Forecasts determined by the operator

To estimate the handling charges for the existing terminal, DBIM submitted that it had adopted the operator's forecast of handling charges up to 2023–24, as outlined in the 2020–21 to 2024–25 OMCP. DBIM later confirmed that its estimate of handling charges for 2023–24 was inadvertently retained from a previous iteration of the OMCP, and that it did not incorporate the handling charges estimate for 2024–25 as reported in the 2020-21 to 2024-25 OMCP.133

In relation to the 8X expansion, the operator estimated the additional handling charges that would apply due to the proposed additional infrastructure (see Table 11).¹³⁴

We acknowledge there will be inherent uncertainty in forecasting handling charges. We also acknowledge that the operator may revise its forecasts, and handling charges may vary from year to year.¹³⁵

The non-expanding users were not satisfied with the level of information provided by DBIM to support its estimated handling charges and suggested that any robust assessment of the extent of the impact of 8X on handling costs requires disclosure of more detailed information by DBIM.¹³⁶

DBIM's application redacted the 2020–21 to 2024–25 OMCP.¹³⁷ However, we have reviewed the operator's 2020–21 to 2024–25 OMCP, and we are satisfied that it provides a reasonable forecast of handling charges for the existing terminal. We consider these forecasts provide the best estimate of future handling charges available at this time. In this regard, we note the independent user-owned terminal operator oversees the day-to-day operations and maintenance of the terminal and is responsible for some long-term asset management and maintenance planning.

The operator's forecast of future handling charges for the existing terminal from 2022–23 is based on system capacity for the existing terminal. Its estimate of the incremental increase to future handling charges associated with the 8X expansion reflects the additional capacity forecast to be created by the 8X expansion. We consider this is reasonable, based on our view that the long-term demand for access to DBCT supports the ongoing utilisation of the expanded terminal capacity for the life of the asset (until 2054). This is discussed in section 7.1.

Escalation of the operator's forecasts

The uncertainty becomes greater the further into the future we forecast these handling charges.

DBIM has escalated the operator's forecast future handling charges by 3 per cent per annum to estimate:

- future handling charges for the existing terminal from 2025–26, as the operator had not provided forecasts beyond 2024-25 at the time of DBIM's application
- the incremental increase to future handling charges associated with the 8X expansion from 2021, noting the operator's estimate was provided in 2020 dollar terms.

In considering the reasonableness of this escalation approach, we acknowledge the predicted cumulative annual growth over the last 10 years is over 3 per cent—DBIM noted that during this time, around \$250 million has been expended on NECAP works.138

Comparatively, the operator's predicted cumulative annual growth in handling charges over the five-year period, as outlined in the 2020–21 to 2024–25 OMCP, is around 0.5 per cent for 2019–20 to 2024–25. However, there is considerable variability in the extent to which handling charges vary from year to year. Additionally, handling charges are likely to correspond to the level of terminal utilisation in these years. We note that the updated 2021–22 to 2025–26 OMCP has estimated a 2.4 per cent increase in handling charges from 2024-25 to 2025-26.

Given this uncertainty, it is not clear that it is appropriate to apply an escalation rate of 3 per cent to forecast future handling charges. We have therefore considered various escalation rates to forecast future handling charges in considering the potential impact of the socialised 8X expansion on existing users' access charges (see Table 13).

Implications for total access charges

A reduction in average handling charges for existing users resulting from the socialised 8X expansion will have implications for existing users' total access charges.

¹³³ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 60; DBIM, response to information requested, 14 May 2021. ¹³⁴ DBIM. sub. 1. p. 60.

DBIM estimated that after accounting for the handling charges associated with the 8X expansion, total access charges for existing users would reduce by \$0.06/t (1 per cent) between 2026–27 and 2035–36, if the 8X expansion is socialised (see Table 12).¹³⁹

Table 12 DBIM's estimated change in existing users' total access charges resulting from a
socialised 8X expansion (\$/t)

TAC (\$/t)	26-27	27-28	28-29	29-30	30-31	31-32	32-33	33-34	34-35	35-36
Without 8X	6.34	6.70	6.88	7.08	7.29	7.50	7.73	7.82	7.98	8.14
With socialised 8X	6.39	6.60	6.93	7.07	7.30	7.42	7.57	7.68	7.87	8.01
Change (%)	0.9	-1.5	0.8	-0.1	0.2	-1.1	-2.1	-1.8	-1.4	-1.5

Source: DBIM, sub. 1, p. 37.

As indicated above, we consider the operator's forecasts provide a reasonable estimate of future handling costs. However, it is not clear what escalation rate is appropriate to apply to these estimates, in order to forecast handling charges into the future.

Therefore, we have compared the difference between the total access charges for existing users, with and without the socialised 8X expansion, when different escalation rates are applied to forecast future handling charges (see Table 13). Our analysis is based on our estimate of existing users' TIC (see section 3.1) and the operator's forecasts of handling charges.

Table 13	Estimated change in existing users' total access charges resulting from a socialised
	8X expansion, when different escalation rates are applied to forecast handling
	charges

	Average difj	ference (\$/t)	Average change (%)		
Escalation rate (%)	26–27 to 35–36	26–27 to 45–46	26–27 to 35–36	26–27 to 45–46	
0	0.10	0.05	1.5	0.9	
1	0.07	0.01	1.2	0.2	
2	0.05	-0.04	0.8	-0.4	
3	0.03	- 0.10	0.4	-1.0	
4	0.00	-0.16	0.1	- 1.5	

We estimated no more than a \$0.10/t increase in total access charges from the scenarios we considered, and we assessed total access charges may in fact decline as a result of the 8X expansion. We are of the view that such a change in total access charges is unlikely to negatively affect the economic viability of already operating investments.

¹³⁵ The non-expanding users submitted that there is no certainty regarding future movements in the handling charge; handling charges vary from year to year and are subject to significant forecasting risk—Synergies, sub. 5, p. 27.

¹³⁶ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 27.

¹³⁷ Non-expanding users considered this removes the ability of non-expanding users to understand how this estimate has been developed and the degree of rigour that has been applied—Synergies, sub. 5, p. 27.

¹³⁸ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 60.

¹³⁹ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 37.

4.2.2 Prices that reflect marginal cost of access

We consider that socialisation of the 8X expansion would maintain cost-reflective price signals to access seekers and holders and promote economically efficient investment in, and use of, the terminal. A socialised TIC that is estimated with reference to a user covering its proportion of the annual revenue requirement for its contracted tonnage ensures the user will cover its share of incremental costs associated with obtaining access to DBCT.

As noted by the non-expanding user group, our capacity expansion and access pricing discussion paper outlined a position on cost-reflective access prices¹⁴⁰:

Allocative efficiency requires prices to reflect marginal costs. If an entity's use of a service causes costs to increase at the margin, then for allocative efficiency to be achieved, the entity needs to face a price that reflects the marginal contribution of its use to costs. This principle is sometimes referred to as the 'user pays' or 'impactor pays' principle. The costs that are caused should include the cost of imposing any adverse externalities or reduced to reflect the value of positive externalities.¹⁴¹

The non-expanding user group considered that socialisation will result in the TIC for expanding users being set at a level below that required to recover the incremental cost of the expansion, with the balance being met by existing users. It was of the view that promoting economically efficient investment in the 8X project requires that the parties that benefit from the expenditure bear the cost and considered this to be a position that we have clearly accepted in the past.¹⁴²

The non-expanding user group considered that any increase in the existing users' TIC reduces the extent to which the price for expanding users reflects their marginal cost. Except to the extent that existing users gain a clear benefit from the expansion, any increase in the TIC for existing users increases the risk that the expansion will proceed in circumstances where it is not efficient.¹⁴³

BMC considered that it is not practical for individual segments of DBCT to be isolated and dedicated to a specific group of users, given DBCT provides a common service to all users.¹⁴⁴

Whitehaven Coal considered that socialisation of the 8X expansion costs will help maintain costreflective pricing signals. It submitted that given the close integration between the 8X expansion assets and the existing DBCT assets, the cost of access for existing users and future users should not reflect a different cost of service.¹⁴⁵

In our view, efficient investment in a common-user terminal does not necessarily require that expanding users recover the full cost of that expansion. Rather, we consider economic efficiency relies on users' charges recovering at least the incremental cost associated with accessing DBCT. In this regard, DBCT provides a common service to all users, and individual segments of terminal infrastructure cannot be isolated and dedicated to a particular user or group of users.¹⁴⁶

We consider that socialisation of the 8X expansion will maintain cost-reflective price signals to access seekers and holders. That is, socialisation of the 8X expansion will not necessarily result in

¹⁴⁰ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 40.

¹⁴¹ QCA, *Capacity Expansion and Access Pricing for Rail and Ports*, discussion paper, April 2013, pp. 2–3.

¹⁴² Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 23–24, 50, sub. 10, pp. 11–12, 29-30, 33.

¹⁴³ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 23–24, sub. 10, p. 30.

¹⁴⁴ BMC, sub. 8, p. 1.

¹⁴⁵ Whitehaven Coal, sub. 9, pp. 1, 2.

¹⁴⁶ The characteristics of Aurizon Network's CQCN mean that individual segments of network infrastructure may be dedicated to a particular user or group of users.

existing users cross-subsidising the expansion parties, noting that existing users will access and share costs associated with the expanded terminal.

However, we acknowledge that consideration of the efficient use of coal handling services at DBCT must also be balanced by consideration of any implications for existing users as a result of socialising an expansion at DBCT. As outlined above, we do not consider that socialisation of the 8X expansion will have an impact on the use of coal handling services at DBCT by existing users. Furthermore, we do not consider that socialisation of the 8X expansion will materially increase the allocation of risk to the existing users of DBCT.

In this regard, we are of the view that socialisation of the 8X expansion provides for the efficient use of, and investment in, the coal handling services at DBCT, and is an appropriate balance of the interests of access seekers, access holders and DBIM.

While in the past we have accepted the position that cost reflective pricing can require that the beneficiaries of the expansion are to meet the costs¹⁴⁷, we note that the expansion pricing principles outlined in DBIM's 2021 AU provide for socialisation of a cost sensitive expansion where the circumstances justify it. We also note that allocating costs of an expansion to existing users is consistent with the socialisation of the 7X expansion, which significantly increased the TIC for existing users.

In any case, we consider that the 8X expansion will provide clear benefits to existing users (outlined in section 6).

¹⁴⁷ Synergies, sub. 10, pp. 31–32.

5 INTEGRATION OF THE 8X EXPANSION WITH THE EXISTING TERMINAL

In determining whether circumstances exist that justify socialisation of the 8X expansion, we have considered the extent to which the expansion will operate wholly or partly, in an integrated way with the existing terminal or as a standalone development.

DBIM considered that the 8X expansion is a fully integrated expansion within the footprint of the existing terminal, supporting socialisation of the expansion. DBIM stated that no components of the expansion are separable or capable of being operated standalone on behalf of a single user or group of users, or with a different operator.¹⁴⁸

Both Whitehaven Coal and BMC considered that the expansion would be integrated with the existing terminal.¹⁴⁹

While the non-expanding user group acknowledged integration of the 8X expansion, it did not consider that this justifies socialisation.¹⁵⁰

We consider that the 8X expansion will operate in an integrated way with the existing terminal. We have formed this view having regard to the characteristics of the 8X expansion and the existing terminal.

This finding has informed our view of whether socialisation is appropriate, having regard to ss. 120(1) and 138(2) of the QCA Act.

5.1 Characteristics of the 8X expansion and the existing terminal

We consider that the nature of the works included in the 8X expansion clearly indicates the 8X expansion will be integrated with the existing terminal.

Table 14 provides detail on the works proposed. These works are largely characterised by the replacement and upgrade of existing infrastructure. New assets commissioned as part of the 8X expansion, such as the new shiploader, will be integrated with existing infrastructure. We note that the 8X expansion does not involve an additional stockyard or berth or require DBIM to obtain more land.

¹⁴⁸ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 26.

¹⁴⁹ Whitehaven Coal, sub. 2, p. 5; BMC, sub. 3, p. 3.

¹⁵⁰ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 25.

Table 14 The 8X expansion

8X expansion phase	Works
Phase 1	 Install a new shiploader SL4 to increase availability of the existing outloading systems. The new shiploader will be fed from the existing OL3.¹⁵¹
	 Undertake outloading optimisation works to upgrade the performance of existing equipment. These include:¹⁵²
	 reclaim bucketwheel upgrades
	 stockyard to surge bin string control software upgrades
	 drive upgrades to L3 and L4 conveyors
	 changes to hatch change automation through software upgrades.
Phase 2	 Undertake the stockyard augmentation project to increase storage volumes in existing rows 1–3 of the stockyard.¹⁵³ This project involves replacing the sloping earth banks of the related bunds with vertical concrete walls.¹⁵⁴
	• Upgrade existing yard machines and conveyors to allow existing systems to operate at a higher rate. Machinery to be upgraded includes conveyor S5, stacker ST2 and associated conveyors S6 and S6A, reclaimer RL3 and conveyor R2. ¹⁵⁵
Phase 3	 Construct a new inloader and rail receival pit, IL4 and RRP4 to replace the existing IL1. The new inloader and rail receival pit will feed coal to the existing conveyor and stockyard system.¹⁵⁶
	 Upgrade the existing inloader IL2 to allow all inloading systems operate at the same rate. The upgraded inloading systems are integrated into the existing stockyard.¹⁵⁷
	 Upgrade the outloading systems OL1 and OL2, to increase outloading rates. This includes upgrades to conveyors and belt feeders.¹⁵⁸
Phase 4	• Extend the operating length of row 8 of the existing stockyard to increase terminal storage volumes. The extended row 8 will operate in an integrated manner consistent with the existing terminal. ¹⁵⁹
	 Replace reclaimer RL2 because its geometry does not match row 8. Reclaimer RL2 will be replaced with a longer boom reclaimer.¹⁶⁰
	 Install a new stacker ST5 to facilitate independent stacking into row 8 of existing stockyard. The new high-capacity stacker will be installed on the new bund 7.¹⁶¹

Stakeholders recognised that the 8X expansion will be integrated with the existing terminal.

DBIM noted that the 2019 master plan describes the expansion as a fully integrated incremental expansion which is not purely focused on the terminal expansion but has a stronger focus on the entire coal chain's efficiency and the resulting system capacity improvement.¹⁶²

¹⁵¹ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 16 and appendix 1, p. 15.

¹⁵² DBIM, sub. 1, p. 16 and appendix 1, p. 16.

¹⁵³ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 17.

¹⁵⁴ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 17.

¹⁵⁵ DBIM, sub. 1, appendix 1, p. 16.

¹⁵⁶ DBIM, sub. 1, appendix 1, p. 16.

¹⁵⁷ DBIM, sub. 1, appendix 1, p. 16.

¹⁵⁸ DBIM, sub. 1, appendix 1, p. 17.

¹⁵⁹ DBIM, sub. 1, appendix 1, p. 17.

¹⁶⁰ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 20.

¹⁶¹ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 20.

¹⁶² DBIM, sub. 1, p. 26.

DBIM also provided details of the proposed 9X expansion¹⁶³ as a comparison to highlight integration of the 8X expansion with the existing terminal.¹⁶⁴

Whitehaven Coal and BMC stated that updated facilities will be used by both existing and future users and considered that integration of the expansion is supported by DBIM's estimate that about 46 per cent of the total costs of the 8X expansion is NECAP-type work.¹⁶⁵

The non-expanding user group acknowledged that the 8X expansion is designed to be highly integrated with the existing terminal, largely due to the extent to which it is bringing forward NECAP or NECAP-type projects.¹⁶⁶

Stakeholders have also previously noted that the nature of the infrastructure at DBCT more generally means expansions are likely to be integrated with the existing terminal.

The existing terminal at Dalrymple Bay is a common-user coal export terminal, providing coal handling services delivered by common infrastructure that is operated in accordance with universally applied terminal regulations.

The DBCT User Group¹⁶⁷ has previously stated that compared to Aurizon Network, where the extent of common infrastructure will vary greatly depending on the expansion involved, the extent of common infrastructure involved in some possible DBCT expansions is likely to be higher.¹⁶⁸

DBIM has stated that unlike at Aurizon Network, there is no infrastructure at DBCT that can be separately attributable to an individual user or group of users or their coal, and that all infrastructure that is part of the terminal services any user at that terminal.¹⁶⁹

5.2 Integration as justification for socialisation

Operational integration between the 8X expansion and the existing terminal does not, in itself, provide a sufficient basis to justify socialised pricing.¹⁷⁰ Integration is one of a number of factors we have considered to determine whether circumstances exist to justify socialisation, informing our view on whether socialisation of the 8X expansion is appropriate having regard to ss. 120(1) and 138(2) of the QCA Act.

¹⁶³ The 9X expansion is identified as the expansion pathway to follow 8X. The proposed expansion features a design that could be operated as a standalone terminal, two new berths and a new stockyard.

¹⁶⁴ DBIM, sub. 1, pp. 26–27.

¹⁶⁵ Whitehaven Coal, sub. 2, p. 5; BMC, sub. 3, p. 3.

¹⁶⁶ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 25.

¹⁶⁷ The DBCT User Group is the body that represented Anglo American, Peabody Energy, Glencore, Rio Tinto Coal Australia, Isaac Plains Coal Management, BHP Mitsui and Vale at the time.

¹⁶⁸ DBCT User Group, Draft Amending Access Undertaking for Differential Pricing, March 2015, pp. 7–8.

¹⁶⁹ DBCTM, *Differential Pricing DAAU Response to QCA Draft Decision*, June 2015, p. 10.

¹⁷⁰ This is consistent with the non-expanding user group's views—Synergies, sub. 5, p. 25.

6 BENEFITS TO EXISTING USERS OF THE TERMINAL

In determining whether circumstances exist that justify socialisation of the 8X expansion, we have considered the extent to which the expansion is likely to benefit users of the existing terminal.

DBIM stated that the 8X expansion will provide significant, long-term benefits to existing users. It was of the view that the identified benefits offset negative impacts, which are mostly short-term and relate to the construction of the new facilities.¹⁷¹

Whitehaven Coal and BMC also considered that the 8X expansion will deliver benefits to existing users.¹⁷²

While the non-expanding user group accepted that the proposed 8X expansion may provide some benefit to existing users, it considered that there is significant uncertainty around the benefits that will be provided. The non-expanding user group stated that there was insufficient information to identify the extent of any benefit.¹⁷³

We consider that the 8X expansion will provide benefits to existing users, in that it will:

- result in cost savings to the NECAP program through the refurbishment of existing shiploaders (SL1–3) and the removal of reclaimer RL2 replacement
- reduce the risk of throughput losses associated with the NECAP program, due to the new fourth shiploader included in the 8X expansion
- provide greater opportunity for trading of short-term capacity in DBCT's secondary market, due to the additional terminal capacity
- improve reliability and flexibility of terminal operations, due to reduced downtime where unplanned events occur
- reduce ongoing handling charges.

These findings have informed our view of whether socialisation is appropriate, having regard to ss. 120(1) and 138(2) of the QCA Act.

6.1 Cost savings associated with the NECAP program

We are of the view that the 8X expansion will benefit existing users through cost savings to the NECAP program.

Specifically, we consider that capital expenditure associated with the 8X expansion will result in cost savings to DBIM's forecast asset replacement program. The proposed 8X expansion includes:

• the replacement of reclaimer RL2, which would otherwise require replacement as part of the forecast asset replacement program (saving \$54m)

¹⁷¹ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 14.

¹⁷² Whitehaven Coal, sub. 2, p. 6; BMC, sub. 3, p. 2.

¹⁷³ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 3–4.

the installation of a new shiploader (SL4), which will allow the existing shiploaders (SL1–SL3) to be refurbished, rather than the more expensive alternative of replacement (saving \$150m).

Whitehaven Coal stated that the 8X expansion would reduce future NECAP costs.¹⁷⁴ The nonexpanding user group acknowledged the 8X expansion may lead to some cost reductions but considered there remains substantial uncertainty about the extent of this benefit. It considered the level of confidence in the timing and cost of the major NECAP program is inevitably low, particularly as the timeframe extends.¹⁷⁵

We consider DBIM's proposed adjustments to the asset replacement program, resulting from the 8X expansion, to be reasonable (section 3.3.2). In this regard, we consider it appropriate to remove the replacement of reclaimer RL2 from the asset replacement program and consider that installation of the new shiploader (SL4) will enable the existing shiploaders (SL1–3) to be refurbished, providing a cheaper alternative to replacement, with minimal impact on throughput.

We have considered the reasonableness of DBIM's cost estimates associated with the asset replacement program, without the 8X expansion and with the socialised expansion (see Box 1 and Box 2). While we consider these estimates reasonable, the costs associated with the asset replacement program are likely to change over time. In any case, we consider that the 8X expansion will result in some cost savings to the asset replacement program.

There will be cost savings to the NECAP program (as a reduction to the future asset replacement program), regardless of whether the 8X expansion is socialised. When considering socialisation of the 8X expansion, the cost savings to the NECAP program are accounted for in our estimate of the existing users' TIC with the socialised expansion (see section 3.3).

6.2 Reduced risk of throughput loss associated with the NECAP program

We consider that installation of the new shiploader (SL4), included in the 8X expansion, will reduce the risk of throughput losses associated with the NECAP program, which will benefit existing users.

If the 8X expansion proceeded, DBIM forecasts that the new shiploader (SL4) allows for refurbishment of the three existing shiploaders (SL1–3), with no throughput losses.¹⁷⁶

Without the 8X expansion, DBIM forecast that refurbishment of the three existing shiploaders will result in throughput losses of up to 18.5 mt per shiploader.¹⁷⁷ However, it stated that if the 8X expansion did not proceed, it intends to replace the existing shiploaders instead, reducing throughput losses to approximately 3.4 mt per shiploader.¹⁷⁸

BMC considered there will be a reduced risk of throughput loss due to the 8X expansion.¹⁷⁹

¹⁷⁴ Whitehaven Coal, sub. 2, p. 1.

¹⁷⁵ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 28–29.

 ¹⁷⁶ For shiploader SL1, this assumes that outloader OL2 and shiploader SL2 upgrades will occur before shiploader SL1 refurbishment, as identified in the FEL 2 study—DBIM, response to information requested, 14 May 2021.
 ¹⁷⁷ PDIM. response to information requested, 14 May 2021.

¹⁷⁷ DBIM, response to information requested, 18 June 2021.

¹⁷⁸ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 16.

¹⁷⁹ BMC, sub. 3, p. 3.

The non-expanding user group questioned whether it would be acceptable to refurbish existing shiploaders where the 8X expansion occurs, noting this would require the shiploaders to be removed for an extended period of time.¹⁸⁰

We consider DBIM's estimated throughput losses to be reasonable (see Box 2). Where the 8X expansion occurs, refurbishment of the existing shiploaders provides a cheaper alternative to replacement, with minimal impact on throughput. However, if the 8X expansion does not proceed, we expect that the existing shiploaders will be replaced to minimise throughput impacts. Therefore, the resulting impact of the 8X expansion is a reduction in throughput losses of approximately 10 mt.¹⁸¹

Various assumptions must hold for the reduction in throughput losses to equal 10 mt. However, we consider it reasonable to expect that there will be a reduced risk of throughput losses, as we expect DBIM and the operator, acting reasonably, will seek to conduct refurbishment of existing shiploaders in a manner that has minimal impact on throughput at the terminal.

6.3 Inclusion of NECAP-type work in the 8X expansion

While the 8X expansion includes works with features similar to typical NECAP works, the extent to which these works would otherwise be undertaken in the ongoing NECAP program, if the expansion did not proceed, is generally unclear. As a result, we have not determined whether there will be any associated benefits to existing users at this time.

DBIM stated that the 8X expansion includes a significant component of NECAP-type work, which if the expansion did not proceed, would need to be provided for in the ongoing NECAP program.¹⁸²

It considered that the inclusion of NECAP-type work in the 8X expansion, representing approximately 46 per cent of forecast expansion costs,¹⁸³ provides for:¹⁸⁴

- alignment of required shutdowns and minimisation of throughput losses for existing users
- use of the large skilled workforce already mobilised and established on the site, which minimises interfaces and thereby supports safe work practices and improved coordination of activities
- reduced whole-of-life costs of the terminal
- full ongoing engagement with the independent user-owned terminal operator for operability assessments, and training in maintenance and operating requirements of the new facilities.

Whitehaven Coal and BMC considered that the 8X expansion incorporates projects that would otherwise need to be undertaken as NECAP, thereby benefiting existing users.¹⁸⁵

¹⁸⁰ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 29.

 ¹⁸¹ This reflects throughput losses of 3.4 mt per existing shiploader without the 8X expansion (replacement strategy), compared to no throughput losses per existing shiploader with the 8X expansion (refurbishment strategy).
 ¹⁸² DBIM, sub. 1, p. 7.

¹⁸³ DBIM, sub. 1, pp. 34, 35. This includes 'definite NECAP', being works that do not increase capacity and would typically remain unchanged if transferred to a NECAP program, and 'likely NECAP', which includes works that do not directly increase capacity but that provide significant benefits to users in risk mitigation and would need to be adapted to new circumstances if it was transferred to the NECAP program.

¹⁸⁴ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 7.

¹⁸⁵ Whitehaven Coal, sub. 2, pp. 5–6; BMC, sub. 3, p. 2.

The non-expanding user group submitted that it was unable to discern what elements of each phase the 8X project are genuinely brought-forward NECAP and what is truly incremental expansion.¹⁸⁶

The non-expanding user group stated that while works may involve replacing existing assets, and therefore be considered 'NECAP in nature', it is not clear whether it is necessary for all of these works to be brought forward into the 8X expansion program, or whether there is the option to exclude them from the 8X project and undertake them if, and when, required through the NECAP program.¹⁸⁷ It considered that 'NECAP in nature' works do not represent the actual expected NECAP requirements beyond 2028, with these requirements to be determined based on the asset condition, asset renewal options, forecast throughput and contracted capacity at the time.¹⁸⁸

In terms of the associated benefits, the non-expanding user group considered that existing users would only benefit if replacement of the relevant assets is expected to be required within a reasonable timeframe, in order to maintain sufficient terminal capacity.¹⁸⁹ Where there is uncertainty over future demand, the non-expanding user group stated that existing users will benefit in delaying NECAP works for as long as possible, as this allows them to maintain the option of more effectively optimising the future NECAP program as better information on the likely demand outlook becomes available. In this regard, they considered that a decision to avoid future NECAP through upfront investment in the 8X expansion imposes an additional cost on users, as this optionality is no longer available to them.¹⁹⁰

We asked DBIM to clarify how it had identified NECAP-type work included in the 8X expansion. DBIM stated the FEL 2 study estimate was reviewed to identify scope with features similar to normal NECAP works.¹⁹¹ DBIM stated it did not seek to determine how NECAP-type work would be reflected in its NECAP program if the 8X expansion did not proceed. It noted that the costs, timing, and scope of works would change, since the convenience and efficiencies associated with completing such work as part of the 8X expansion would not be available.¹⁹²

We are of the view that the 8X expansion will include capital expenditure that has features similar to typical NECAP works, noting the 8X expansion is largely characterised by the replacement and upgrade of existing infrastructure.

However, it is generally not known to what extent works would be included in the ongoing NECAP program if the expansion did not proceed, nor how these works would differ if included in the ongoing NECAP program.

Where we are unable to understand how the 8X expansion works would otherwise be included in the ongoing NECAP program, we have not sought to form a view on whether associated

¹⁸⁶ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 19–20.

¹⁸⁷ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 30.

¹⁸⁸ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 30.

¹⁸⁹ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 30.

¹⁹⁰ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 30.

¹⁹¹ DBIM, response to information requested, 14 May 2021.

¹⁹² DBIM, response to information requested, 14 May 2021.

benefits will be provided to existing users.¹⁹³ It would be difficult to gain further clarity on the ongoing NECAP program at this time.¹⁹⁴

DBIM has provided granular forecasts of its asset replacement program (which forms part of the NECAP program) and has identified works in the asset replacement program that it will instead complete as part of the 8X expansion. This is the case for the replacement of reclaimer RL2. Here, we have considered whether there will be associated benefits (see section 6.1).

6.4 Efficiency, reliability and flexibility of the existing terminal

We consider that the 8X expansion, which is largely characterised by the replacement and upgrade of existing infrastructure, will provide benefits to existing users through improvements in efficiency, reliability and flexibility of terminal operations.

DBIM identified a number of examples of how the 8X expansion will improve the efficiency, reliability and flexibility of the terminal services (see Box 4).

Box 4 Improving the efficiency, reliability and flexibility of the terminal services

- The new fourth shiploader will allow higher availability of the three outloading systems, increasing from 91 to 95 per cent. The SL4 will be able to sustain throughput while any other shiploader is undergoing short -term maintenance, minor upgrade or outage for other purposes. DBIM considered this an important benefit for existing users, because if 8X did not proceed, throughput (currently around 70 mtpa) is expected to reach 84.2 mtpa in the next few years, placing higher demand on shiploader availability. Consequently, outages for shiploaders will become more difficult to schedule and more disruptive to throughput.
- Outloading optimisation will improve throughput capability and outloading efficiency.
- The concrete bund walls will result in higher stockpile capacity, efficiency gains in the DBCC and reduced congestion at peak throughput. It will also reduce stockpile slumping in rain events, reducing downtime until the stockpile is restored to operations.
- Upgrades to existing yard machinery will allow machines to run more efficiently, providing faster train unloading and higher shiploading rates, and therefore increased throughput capability and reliability. It will also reduce maintenance downtime, providing benefits to existing users in terms of increased availability.
- The new inloader and upgrades to existing inloaders mean all trains can be unloaded at a consistently higher rate, thereby maximising the trains' efficiency and reducing the planning effort. The technology of the new inloader means there will be less disruption due to maintenance outages, and increased throughput capability.
- Additional stockpile volume will allow more parcels to be built simultaneously. In turn, this means that trains will source coal from more mine loadouts at any one time, thereby creating more system capacity.
- The replacement of reclaimer RL2 will reduce maintenance outages, as the new machine will require less maintenance than the machine it will replace.

Source: DBIM, sub. 1, pp. 15, 17-20.

DBIM noted that the DBCT User Group had previously identified such benefits based on the 2019 master plan.¹⁹⁵

¹⁹³ We consider that this uncertainty makes it difficult to assess whether there are conveniences and efficiencies associated with completing works as part of the 8X expansion. Further, it would be difficult to appropriately consider issues raised by stakeholders, including the non-expanding user group's concern that the option of effectively optimising the future NECAP program to reflect better information will not be possible if NECAP works are included in the 8X expansion.

¹⁹⁴ We consider that DBIM and the operator are best placed to determine the NECAP program, at the relevant point in time.

¹⁹⁵ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 57.

Whitehaven Coal considered that existing users would experience significant improvements in terminal reliability, given the renewal, replacement and upgrades to many of the facilities relied on by existing users. It also considered that there would be a reduced risk of significant impacts to terminal capacity due to outages or delays, as a result of the increase in available capacity, as well as the improved reliability and efficiency of the DBCT assets from the 8X expansion.¹⁹⁶

BMC considered that existing users will likely benefit from increased reliability and efficiency as a result of the 8X expansion infrastructure and noted operating and maintenance improvements arising from the NECAP-type components of the 8X expansion.¹⁹⁷

The non-expanding user group acknowledged that in some cases, improvements to terminal reliability may provide a benefit to existing users (for example, reduced outages for major equipment maintenance and therefore greater availability) but stated that there is insufficient information to allow an assessment of the extent of the claimed benefit to existing users, separate from any benefit of additional supply chain capacity contracted to new users.

The non-expanding user group considered that there would be cases where improvements to terminal reliability and flexibility will serve to increase the reliability and flexibility of the supply chain—and ultimately increase system capacity, as has been modelled by the Integrated Logistics Company. However, it assumed that any such increase in system capacity will be contracted to, and absorbed by, the expanding users and will not result in any direct increase in capacity entitlement or contracted service standard for existing users. Further, it suggested there may be cases where the expansion could have a detrimental impact on some users' service reliability and flexibility.¹⁹⁸

Having considered the information provided, we are of the view that certain elements of the expansion will benefit existing users by reducing downtime where there are unplanned outages. For example, the stockpile augmentation project should allow stockpiles to be restored to operations quicker where rain events lead to stockpile slumping, and the new fourth shiploader will mitigate the risk of throughput loss if there is damage to any one shiploader or berth. The replacement and upgrade of existing infrastructure should reduce maintenance requirements and outages.

We acknowledge that where improvements to terminal operations create additional capacity, this is likely to be captured by new users, given the demand for access to the terminal. However, we note that contract utilisation will vary. There may be cases where users do not utilise 100 per cent of their contracted capacity, and cases where users wish to ship above their contracted capacity. This has occurred in the past (see Figure 8).¹⁹⁹

Short-term capacity at DBCT is traded in a secondary market. We consider that the increase in capacity at DBCT may provide additional available short-term capacity and greater opportunities for trading in DBCT's secondary market, which could be of benefit to existing users.

¹⁹⁶ Whitehaven Coal, sub. 2, p. 6.

¹⁹⁷ BMC, sub. 3, pp. 2, 3.

¹⁹⁸ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 31–32.

¹⁹⁹ DBI, *Prospectus*, November 2020, p. 77.



Figure 8 DBCT's contract utilisation

Source: DBI, Prospectus, November 2020, p. 77.

6.5 Reductions to handling charges

We are of the view that the 8X expansion will benefit existing users through a reduction in handling charges.

DBIM identified a reduction in ongoing handling charges as a benefit to existing users.²⁰⁰ Both Whitehaven Coal and BMC considered there would be a reduction in operation and maintenance costs (which are recovered through the handling charges) as a result of the 8X expansion.²⁰¹

The non-expanding user group acknowledged that the 8X expansion could lead to a reduction in the average handling charges. However, it considered that there is significant uncertainty around future operation and maintenance costs (and therefore handling charges). It stated caution must be applied in judging the extent of these benefits to existing users.²⁰²

Having regard to the nature of the 8X expansion, we do not expect that the costs to operate and maintain the expansion will result in a significant increase in total operation and maintenance costs (recovered through the handling charges). While some components of the 8X expansion may lead to additional operation and maintenance costs, this is unlikely to be the case with other components. This was acknowledged by stakeholders, who noted that the 8X expansion involves the replacement of existing equipment with new, higher capacity equipment, with commensurately lower operating and maintenance costs.²⁰³ Additionally, DBIM stated that the additional stockyard storage space to be created by the expansion would not incur additional operating and maintenance costs.²⁰⁴

DBIM submitted estimates of future handling charges to be paid by users of the terminal, which are based on the operator's forecasts. The operator's forecasts show that the incremental handling charges associated with the 8X expansion component are forecast to be around one-fifth (on a per tonne basis) of the handling charges associated with the existing terminal. Where the handling charges for the expanded terminal are socialised amongst all users, the forecasts also show that there will be a reduction in handling charges²⁰⁵ (see section 4.2.1).

²⁰⁰ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 28.

²⁰¹ Whitehaven Coal, sub. 2, p. 6; BMC, sub. 3, pp. 1, 2.

²⁰² Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 27–28.

²⁰³ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 26–27.

²⁰⁴ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 14.

²⁰⁵ Forecast handling costs associated with the existing terminal, plus the incremental costs associated with the 8X expansion.

We acknowledge the inherent uncertainty in estimating future handling charges. However, we consider that the operator's forecasts are reasonable, noting that the independent and userowned operator is responsible for overseeing the day-to-day operations and maintenance of the terminal (see Box 3).

To the extent that the 8X expansion does reduce handling charges, the non-expanding user group suggested that price differentiation could be applied, with any benefit from reduced handling charges being directed to the expanding users through the cost allocation manual.^{206,207} It is currently unclear what would be included in such a manual. The cost allocation manual must be consistent with the cost allocation principles set out in section 11.7(h) of the 2021 AU. For the reasons outlined in this determination, we consider it appropriate to make the ruling sought by DBIM, that the applicable pricing method is socialisation.

Separately, we note that any benefit in terms of reduced handling charges will have an impact on the total access charges paid by existing terminal users—any forecast increase in the existing users' TIC where the 8X expansion is socialised will be offset by the reduction in handling charges. We discuss the extent to which this will occur in section 4.2.1.

6.6 Identifying the extent of benefits to existing users

We have formed the view that the proposed 8X expansion will provide benefits to existing users through a number of means. Although forecasting uncertainty involves uncertainty about the exact extent of any benefits, we are satisfied that material benefits will exist.

The non-expanding user group accepted that the proposed 8X expansion may provide some benefit to existing users, but it stated that it is not possible to reliably identify the extent of such benefit at this time. This included substantial uncertainties around the possible benefits from reductions in major NECAP expenditure and handling charges, given the preliminary nature of the size and timing of these cost estimates.²⁰⁸

The non-expanding user group considered that we have overlooked the fact that these cost items have been assessed by the operator at only a very preliminary level and stated that the extent to which this information may change is evident from the changes that can occur in the operator's asset replacement schedule in a single year.²⁰⁹ The non-expanding user group submitted that a detailed analysis and verification process of these costs should be undertaken, which may result in a significant change to the estimate of the benefits to existing users from the 8X expansion.²¹⁰

Similarly, it was of the view that a considered assessment of the operating and maintenance cost implications of both the major NECAP program and the 8X expansion was needed.²¹¹ In this

²⁰⁶ If the terminal was differentiated, DBIM would be required to prepare a cost allocation manual specifying how operating and maintenance costs would be allocated between different terminal components (see section 11.7 of the 2021 AU).

 ²⁰⁷ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 28. Similarly, the non-expanding user group stated that it would support a differential pricing arrangement that ensured expansion parties only bore the incremental costs associated with providing the additional capacity (including the incremental operating and maintenance costs). Synergies, sub. 10, p. 33.
 ²⁰⁸ Synergies, sub. 10, pp. 15–16.

²⁰⁸ Synergies, sub. 10, pp. 15–16.

²⁰⁹ For instance, DBIM's forecast major NECAP expenditure reflects the long-term asset management plan, outlined in the operator's 2021–2025 corporate plan. The long-term asset management plan is based on the design life of the relevant facilities, which is then amended to take account of their condition and any expected maintenance. The non-expanding user group submitted that detailed analysis had been undertaken on a very limited number of assets, with the majority of asset life dates reflecting only a preliminary assessment.

²¹⁰ Synergies, sub. 10, p. 16.

²¹¹ Synergies, sub. 10, p. 16.

regard, it noted that cost savings were likely to be achieved, regardless of whether the 8X expansion occurred, given that the anticipated NECAP program includes extensive asset renewal.

In contrast, Whitehaven Coal considered that the 8X expansion will deliver material benefits to existing users, even if some details of those benefits are still to be confirmed. It submitted that it is not correct to say there is 'significant uncertainty' about the existence of those benefits, many of which are inherent in the nature of the expansion activities themselves.²¹²

We accept that the full extent of benefits to be provided to existing users may not be known with exact certainty, at this time. The nature of forecast information means that it is likely to change over time. Even once the expansion is commissioned, it is likely that significant uncertainty around future NECAP expenditure and handling charges will remain.

However, this uncertainty does not undermine our view that the 8X expansion will provide benefits to existing users.

In any case, as discussed in section 2.1, we have sought to verify the claims made in DBIM's application and assessed the underlying information available.

We note that there have been updates to the annual and five-year OMCP since we commenced our investigation. While the updates to the operator's long-term asset management program suggest delaying the replacement of various assets,²¹³ our determination has only identified benefits to existing users related to the refurbishment of the three existing shiploaders (SL1–3)²¹⁴ and the replacement of reclaimer RL2.²¹⁵ In this regard we note:

- there has been no update to the operator's long-term asset management program related to the shiploaders
- while the proposed replacement of reclaimer RL2 has been delayed by approximately 10 years, there is still a requirement to replace this asset.

While changes to the future NECAP program or handling charges could have some impact on the extent of benefits provided, it may also be the case that benefits in addition to those outlined in our determination are subsequently realised. For example, our determination has not sought to form a view on whether benefits will be associated with the inclusion of NECAP-type work in the 8X expansion. DBIM was unable to provide supporting evidence at this time (see section 6.3).

We have also considered the extent that variations in forecast expenditure associated with the existing shiploaders (SL 1–3), reclaimer RL2 and handling charges may affect the likely cost savings resulting from the socialisation of the 8X expansion (see section 4.1).

²¹² Whitehaven Coal, sub. 9, p. 1.

²¹³ Delays of between 8 and 10 years are now indicated for 10 of the 15 assets.

²¹⁴ Installation of a new shiploader (SL4) providing for the refurbishment of the existing shiploaders (SL1–SL3), rather than requiring they be replaced.

²¹⁵ The replacement of reclaimer RL2 will be included in the expansion and would otherwise require replacement as part of the forecast asset replacement program.

7 RISKS TO EXISTING USERS OF THE TERMINAL

In determining whether circumstances exist that justify socialisation of the 8X expansion, we have considered any differences in the risks of providing access to users of the existing terminal in respect of additional terminal capacity created by the 8X expansion.

DBIM assessed that if the 8X expansion is socialised, the risks of providing access to existing users are no different to the existing risks.²¹⁶

BMC considered there are no identifiable differences in risks in providing access to existing users in respect of additional terminal capacity created by the 8X expansion.²¹⁷

In contrast, the non-expanding user group considered that the 8X expansion has the potential to affect risks to users of the existing terminal—amongst other things, it can increase users' exposure to volume and cross-default risk.²¹⁸

We do not consider that socialisation of the 8X expansion will materially affect the allocation of risk to the existing users of DBCT.

We consider that existing users' exposure to risk resulting from the socialised expansion will be mitigated by the existing regulatory arrangements and the characteristics of related seaborne coal markets.

This finding has informed our view of whether socialisation is appropriate, having regard to ss. 120(1) and 138(2) of the QCA Act.

7.1 Allocation of volume risk to DBCT's existing users

Demand for coal handling services at DBCT currently exceeds the expanded capacity of the terminal. DBIM noted:

- there is no available capacity at the existing terminal
- the additional capacity expected to be created by the 8X expansion has been contracted to the expansion parties
- there are access applications for a further 10.2 mtpa in the access queue.²¹⁹

We do not consider that socialisation of the 8X expansion will materially increase the allocation of volume risk to DBCT's existing users. While there is a possibility that the 8X expansion will ultimately deliver additional capacity that may never be used or required, we consider:

- the current market outlook for DBCT supports the ongoing utilisation of the expanded terminal for the life of the asset
- the possible risk of contract roll-off from existing users following the expiration of current access agreements is likely to be mitigated by the long-term demand

²¹⁶ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 31.

²¹⁷ BMC, sub. 3, p. 4.

²¹⁸ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 5, 33–34.

²¹⁹ DBIM, sub. 1, pp. 5, 30.

- existing users appear to be taking a long-term, through-the-cycle view of their contracted position (where evergreen renewal rights are a feature of the regulatory framework)
- the regulatory framework enables DBIM to manage any additional risks associated with providing access to new users, by providing for DBIM to hold security.

Counterparty risk associated with contract roll-off from existing users

We consider the risk of contract roll-off from existing users following the expiration of current access agreements is mitigated by the long-term demand for access to DBCT. Such demand is driven by the underlying market characteristics of metallurgical coal sourced from the Bowen Basin and the international demand for that coal.

The non-expanding user group considered that a socialised pricing approach will result in higher counterparty risk being borne by existing users, with 8X delivering additional capacity that may never be used or required. It considered socialising the 8X expansion will significantly increase demand risk for existing users, given the longer-term coal market outlook and the possibility of terminal demand declining beyond the contracted pricing period.²²⁰

The non-expanding user group stated there is an expectation that contracted volume and throughput may peak and then decline from the time the 8X expansion is to be delivered, and beyond. It submitted that in the order of 70 per cent of existing terminal contracts are due for renewal around 2028—and that DBIM had not provided sufficient information on terminal demand expectations beyond 2028, when the 8X expansion will be completed.²²¹

BMC considered the strong pipeline of demand for capacity at DBCT means that a prudent operator of the terminal would pursue a capacity expansion.²²² Whitehaven Coal considered that it is appropriate to assume that demand for coal handling services at DBCT is likely to remain strong for the remainder of the current anticipated life of DBCT.²²³

The DBI prospectus assessed the future risk of non-renewal of access agreements or material uncontracted volumes beyond 2028 to be low. It considered the Bowen Basin's large reserves of high-quality metallurgical coal, growing export metallurgical coal demand and the Bowen Basin's position as the leading metallurgical coal export region will likely support an increase in production from the Bowen Basin. Furthermore, the prospectus expected DBCT to remain the terminal of choice for access seekers in the central Bowen Basin, given its proximity to key export destinations, handling services offered, and freight advantages.²²⁴

This view is consistent with that of RMI, which we recently engaged to independently assess the economic life of DBCT as part of our investigation into DBIM's 2019 DAU. As part of its market outlook for DBCT, RMI concluded that demand growth for metallurgical coal may peak in 2035, and then gradually decline from 2060 as existing infrastructure is retired and possibly replaced by more carbon-neutral technologies.²²⁵ Box 5 provides an overview of RMI's market outlook for DBCT.

BMC submitted that the view expounded by RMI is consistent with its commodity outlook.²²⁶

²²⁰ Synergies, sub.5, pp. 34, 36.

²²¹ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 5, 23, 33.

²²² BMC, sub. 2, p. 4.

²²³ Whitehaven Coal, sub. 9, p. 2.

²²⁴ DBI, *Prospectus*, November 2020, p. 78.

²²⁵ RMI, *DBCT 2019 DAU—Review of the economic life of DBCT assets*, prepared for the QCA, February 2021, p. 3.

²²⁶ BMC, sub. 8, p. 3.

We also note that evergreen renewal rights are a feature of the regulatory framework. DBIM stated that there was a 100 per cent take-up of renewal options for qualifying users during the contract extension process conducted in 2019. DBIM considered this is evidence of existing users taking a long-term, through-the-cycle view of their contracted position.²²⁷

Box 5 RMI's market outlook for DBCT

In the report RMI prepared for the QCA, RMI concluded the following:

- DBCT will remain a predominantly metallurgical coal export facility, with metallurgical coal throughput at DBCT currently in excess of 80% of throughput. (p. 3)
- The Bowen Basin has the largest and lowest cost resources of high-quality metallurgical coal. (p. 28)
- Supply from existing operations supplying coal to DBCT will start to decline during the period from 2025 to 2027, but DBCT supply and the proposed increase in DBCT capacity to 97.5 mtpa over that period will be supported by market demand and new projects. (p. 5)
- Despite zero carbon emission targets, seaborne thermal and metallurgical coal demand from South East Asia, India, Pakistan and Bangladesh is likely to continue to grow for at least the next 10 years, possibly peaking around 2035. This is supported by the current program for construction and approved construction of power stations and conventional steel mills over the next 10 years, including HELE coal-fired technology in India, South East Asia and China. (p. 20)
- The demand growth for thermal and metallurgical coal will remain flat from 2035 to at least 2060, as most of this new infrastructure will have an operating life in excess of 30 years. Demand will then start to decline as existing infrastructure is retired and replaced by more carbon-neutral technologies. (p. 20)
- With the possible exception of Russia, there is limited metallurgical coal supply capacity that could compete with Bowen Basin coals in terms of product quality and cost of supply to meet the expected growth in metallurgical coal demand. (p. 31)
- The Bowen Basin, and in particular the Goonyella Rail System corridor, is in a very strong competitive position to maintain a dominant market share over the long term. Supply capacity from other areas (e.g. Indonesia, the USA, China and the NSW Southern Coalfield) is expected to reduce within a 30-year time frame, thus increasing demand from the Bowen Basin, which has ample high-quality, lower-cost metallurgical coal resources. (p. 32)

Source: RMI, DBCT 2019 DAU—Review of the economic life of DBCT assets, prepared for the QCA, February 2021.

Furthermore, volume risk will be shared amongst both new and existing users if the 8X expansion is socialised.

DBIM considered the risk of any spare capacity is unlikely to materially adversely affect existing users if the 8X expansion is socialised. Rather, DBIM considered that it is likely that the overall risk profiles of users would likely improve from the addition of the 8X expansion parties.²²⁸

Volume risk associated with expansion capacity

In relation to the additional 8X expansion capacity, the non-expanding user group considered that demand has only been considered over the initial 10-year period for which it has conditional contracts in place. It submitted that, in reality, the demand outlook for the 8X expansion is far more uncertain. In this regard, the non-expanding user group considered that maintenance of DBCT demand to fully utilise the expanded capacity will require significant investment in mining projects.²²⁹

The non-expanding user group considered that existing users bear a significantly increased demand risk. The non-expanding user group noted that DBIM applied different depreciation

²²⁷ DBI, *Prospectus*, November 2020, p. 78.

²²⁸ DBIM, sub. 1, pp. 30-31.

²²⁹ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 22, 33–34; sub. 10, pp. 22–23.

profiles to calculate the socialised and differentiated prices.²³⁰ It submitted that by adopting longer asset lives, socialisation passes a risk onto existing users that DBIM is not willing to accept itself.²³¹

Aurizon Network submitted that the completion timeframes of the latter phases of the 8X expansion coincide with the cessation of the Goonyella to Abbot Point Expansion (GAPE) foundation customer agreements. Therefore, it considered that it is feasible that available capacity may exist for GAPE services in competition for DBCT services. Aurizon Network also considered that the public interest of socialising these phases will be substantially diminished where the utilisation of the expansion capacity comprises the redistribution of mining output, as opposed to an expansion of total CQCN mining output.²³²

There will always be some uncertainty as to the future demand for coal handling services at DBCT. However, we consider the continued competitiveness of Bowen Basin metallurgical coal producers will be a key determinant of continued demand for coal handling services at DBCT. As outlined above, RMI's market outlook for DBCT supports the ongoing utilisation of the expanded terminal for the life of the asset.

Additionally, DBIM has executed conditional access agreements for the capacity to be made available by the 8X expansion phases. The information available does not suggest that utilisation of the expansion capacity will simply represent a redistribution of mining output in the CQCN.

The non-expanding user group considered that there is much higher uncertainty associated with forecast coal production volumes from mine developments than from existing mines with access agreements. It submitted that:

- there can be significant variation from a new development's planned production schedule due to a range of technical and project risks
- financial risk can have an impact on a producer's ability to finance and deliver a new development, particularly in the event that changed conditions in the coal market require a material adjustment to the anticipated project cash flows.²³³

Furthermore, the non-expanding user group considered the project development risks associated with greenfield mine projects are significantly higher than with brownfields expansions. Brownfield expansions can leverage off existing mine infrastructure and operational capability, and cashflow from existing production can reduce financial risk.²³⁴

The non-expanding user group submitted that risks associated with such developments cannot be completely addressed through counterparty screening, contracting arrangements and security provisions.²³⁵

Additionally, it stated that combined with socialised pricing, the regulatory framework does not provide an incentive for DBIM to use these provisions to maximise its management of these risks. In this regard, it submitted that DBIM is incentivised to relax its security requirements in negotiations, in order to encourage expanding users to commit to an expansion agreement—given that the pricing framework will result in the costs associated with this default being shared

²³⁰ In estimating the differentiated TIC, DBIM accelerated the depreciation of the 8X expansion costs to match the 10year term of the expansion parties' access agreements, in order to mitigate asset stranding risk.

²³¹ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 16, 34.

²³² Aurizon Network, sub. 7, p. 4.

²³³ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 35.

²³⁴ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 35.

²³⁵ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 35–36, sub. 10, p. 35.

across all the remaining users. The non-expanding user group did not consider that the historical experience of no default on payments to DBIM necessarily provides a reliable precedent for new expansion contracts, given the different incentives under the 2021 AU.²³⁶

In contrast, DBIM submitted that the expansion parties include both existing users and new users of DBCT, with large throughput requirements and risk profiles comparable with that of existing users.²³⁷

Fundamentally, the competitiveness of coal producers in the Bowen Basin will determine DBIM's exposure to volume risk in the longer term. While the mines that utilise DBCT may change over time as a result of firm-specific factors, coal handling services at the terminal will be sustained as long as the output of mines continues to be in demand by end customers.

The DBI prospectus outlined that Bowen Basin mines provide higher product quality, resulting in a significant margin being achieved for their products—producing predominantly hard coking coal and low volatile pulverized coal for injection. Additionally, it considered that Bowen Basin producers have distinct comparative advantages over other producers, including logistics, a stable client base, and reserve composition within the basin.²³⁸

By providing for DBIM to hold security (including bank guarantees and parent company guarantees) from users that it considers less creditworthy, we consider that the regulatory framework enables DBIM to manage any additional risks associated with providing access to new users.²³⁹ No user has ever defaulted on payments to DBIM.

We consider that DBIM is incentivised to use these mechanisms within the regulatory framework to effectively manage such risk. Our ruling as to the appropriate pricing method to apply to the proposed 8X expansion does not equate to the acceptance of the 8X capital expenditure for the negotiation of the TIC. The 2021 AU expansion framework outlines processes for considering whether we are to accept the expansion assets for the purpose of negotiating access terms.

In any case, if the 8X expansion is socialised, the pricing framework enables the costs associated with an access seeker defaulting to be shared across all the remaining users.

DBIM considered the financial impact of a defaulting user would not be onerous for existing users. Additionally, DBIM also submitted that the 8X expansion may be scaled down in the event of a reduction in the capacity required by expansion parties.²⁴⁰

The non-expanding user group considered capacity resulting from a defaulting expansion party is unlikely to be taken up by another party in the queue in the event of a downturn in the coal market. It stated that while there had been strong demand for capacity at Wiggins Island Coal Export Terminal, in combination with Aurizon Network's WIRP project, this had dissipated as a result of the market downturn, and surplus capacity remains uncontracted.²⁴¹

We do not consider that the experience at WICET is a reflection of the extent that existing users at DBCT are exposed to the risk of an expansion party defaulting. We note:

• DBCT is estimated to be the lowest-cost multi-user export pathway for central Bowen Basin mines on average, due to, amongst other things, its position adjacent to these mines

²³⁶ Synergies, sub. 10, pp. 24–25.

²³⁷ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 30.

²³⁸ DBI, *Prospectus*, November 2020, p. 37.

²³⁹ DBIM considered that these regulatory arrangements allow it to address default risk—DBIM, sub. 1, p. 30.

²⁴⁰ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 22, 30.

²⁴¹ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 35–36.

- DBCT has consistently handled the greatest volume of coal exported from the Bowen Basin, which mitigates users' exposure to counterparty risk
- new capacity being created by the 8X expansion will only account for around 15 per cent of the capacity of the expanded DBCT.

Considering the appropriate allocation of demand risk

The non-expanding user group submitted that we do not appear to have considered the potential variability of demand outcomes, or the potential implications for terminal users in the event of a more negative demand scenario. The non-expanding user group submitted that there is significant divergence in analysts' views over both global coal demand, and the longer-term risks associated with investment in coal projects in Queensland. It stated that there is a risk that a socialised pricing method would leave existing users bearing a higher cost, should terminal demand peak and then decline following the 8X expansion.²⁴²

The non-expanding user group submitted that an assumption that the expanded terminal capacity will be fully contracted for the remaining economic life of the asset until 2054 is unrealistic and imposes additional costs on existing users to the extent that it is not realised.²⁴³

In this regard, the non-expanding user group considered that DBIM's application of accelerated depreciation to the differentiated expansion component highlights a clear risk around the term over which DBIM anticipates demand will exist for the full expansion volume. It used the experience at WICET to illustrate how quickly the investment environment for new coal mines can change in the event of a market downturn.²⁴⁴

In making this determination, we have formed the view that the current market outlook supports the utilisation of the 8X expansion at DBCT, and not that expansion users will necessarily continue to use the expansion until 2054.

We acknowledge that there will always be some uncertainty as to the future demand for coal handling services at DBCT and that users of DBCT may be exposed to the risk of a deterioration in demand for coal handling services at the terminal. In making this ruling, we have considered the extent to which the relevant parties are exposed to such a risk as a result of the pricing method to be applied.

We consider that the allocation of volume risk associated with socialisation of the 8X expansion will better provide for the efficient investment in, and use of, the coal handling services at DBCT and promote effective competition in upstream markets. We also consider it to be an appropriate balance of the interests of access seekers, access holders and DBIM.

In this regard we note that differentiation of the 8X expansion solely allocates the volume risk of the 8X expansion to expansion parties and will result in significantly greater counterparty risk for expansion parties.²⁴⁵ We are of the view that differentiation of the 8X expansion will expose expansion parties to a much greater level of volume risk in comparison to the existing users of DBCT.

²⁴² Synergies, sub. 10, pp. 21–23.

²⁴³ Synergies, sub. 10, p. 24.

²⁴⁴ Synergies, sub. 10, p. 21, 25–26.

²⁴⁵ Volume risk associated with the expansion will be socialised over a much smaller proportion of terminal capacity. While the current market outlook is positive for sustained demand for coal handling services at DBCT, we would also expect future access seekers to have a preference for accessing the existing terminal component in the scenario where additional cost and risk is allocated to a differentiated terminal component.

Given that the regulatory arrangements provide for evergreen renewal of access agreements, there is no certainty that existing capacity at the terminal will become available to access seekers following the expiry of current access agreements. While existing access agreements will expire in the coming years, the underlying market characteristics of metallurgical coal sourced from the Bowen Basin supports the long-term demand for access to DBCT.

Moreover, as outlined above, we do not consider that socialisation of the 8X expansion will materially increase the allocation of volume risk to DBCT's existing users.

7.2 Operational issues that could cause delays or losses for existing users

It is not apparent that the socialisation of the 8X expansion will have any material adverse implications for the coal handling services provided to existing users. In view of the integration of the expansion with the existing terminal, the extent to which existing users are exposed to operational risk associated with the construction of the 8X expansion will be the same, regardless of whether the 8X expansion is socialised.

BMC considered that delivery of 8X will necessarily give rise to an interface risk for all users during construction and commission, and that risk will be shared by existing users.²⁴⁶ DBIM submitted that it plans to mitigate any major impacts to services for existing users during the construction phase.²⁴⁷

The non-expanding user group considered that processes for managing operational risk associated with the construction of the 8X expansion do not appear particularly relevant to a justification for a socialised pricing method—as the operational risk will need to be effectively managed regardless. The non-expanding user group expected that DBIM will analyse operational issues, both within the terminal and across the supply chain more broadly, and strategies to mitigate any operational risks associated with the delivery of 8X will be embedded into the project.²⁴⁸

DBIM considered there are no risks to the operator in providing services to existing users after construction is completed, given the 8X expansion is operationally integrated with the existing terminal. DBIM stated that reliability and the flexibility of the terminal services are improved for all users, thereby reducing any risks of providing access to existing users.²⁴⁹

We discuss the benefits associated with the 8X expansion improving the reliability and flexibility of terminal operations for existing users in section 6.4.

7.3 Allocation of cost risk to existing users

The non-expanding user group considered that a further risk for existing users is cost risk associated with delivery of the 8X expansion. It considered that significant uncertainty remains as to the scope and cost of the 8X expansion, which would expose existing users to significant cost risk—as variations to the scope and resulting cost of 8X will be borne by all users of the terminal.²⁵⁰

If the events or circumstances to which our assumptions relate do not happen as assumed, our ruling would no longer apply for the purpose of any access determination or decision on whether

²⁴⁶ BMC, sub. 3, p. 3.

²⁴⁷ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 29.

²⁴⁸ Synergies, sub. 5, pp. 36–37.

²⁴⁹ DBIM, sub. 1, p. 29.

²⁵⁰ Synergies, sub. 5, p. 36.

to approve a DAU in the future. Therefore, if costs associated with the 8X expansion to vary from those outlined in DBIM's price ruling application, our price ruling will no longer be applicable.

We therefore do not consider that making a price ruling at this stage to socialise the proposed 8X expansion will expose existing users to significant cost risk.

APPENDIX A: ASSUMPTIONS UNDERPINNING OUR PRICE RULING

In accordance with ss. 150F(4) and 150F(6)(d) of the QCA Act, in making a ruling as to the appropriate pricing method to apply to the proposed 8X expansion, we have made the following assumptions about the scope, capacity, cost and schedule of the 8X expansion. These assumptions are based on the terminal capacity expansion for DBCT identified in the FEL 2 study²⁵¹ and set out in DBIM's price ruling application (as outlined below).

The engineering and design works and cost estimates for the 8X expansion were completed by the Aurecon Group. The capacity assessments were completed by the Integrated Logistics Company, the coordinator of the Dalrymple Bay Coal Chain.

Capacity gain and capital cost

Table 15 The system capacity gain and capital cost associated with the proposed 8X expansion

8X expansion phase	System capacity gain (mtpa)	Capital cost (\$m)
Phase 1	3.1	246
Phase 2	3.9	229
Phase 3	5.5	461
Phase 4	2.4	340
Total	14.9	1,276

Source: DBIM, sub. 1, p. 12.

Scope of works

Table 16 Summary scope of works for the proposed 8X expansion

8X expansion phase	Major scope element
Phase 1	• SL4 on Berth 3 and L18 conveyor at 8650 tonnes per hour (tph) from OL3
	Outloading optimisation:
	 Reclaim bucketwheel upgrades (SR2 and SR5) to avoid carry-over
	 Stockyard to surge bin string control software upgrades across 3 surge bins
	 L3/L4 fluid coupling upgrades
	 Hatch change automation
Phase 2	• ST2, S6 and S6A upgrade to 8100 tph
	Conveyor S5/ST1A upgrade to 8100 tph
	Stockyard Augmentation Project (SAP)
	• R2 / RL3 upgrade
	• Zone to OL system (Zone 1 to OL3, Zone 3 to OL2, Zone 2 to OL1 as current)
Phase 3	• RRP4 & IL4 at 8100 tph to S6A, S5, S7, S8, S9 (future), R7/R8, R2, R3, R5
	IL2 Upgrade (split system) at 8100 tph
	• R3 to suit SR2A + OL1 upgrade at 8650 tph

²⁵¹ DBIM, DBCT 8X Expansion: FEL 2 Feasibility Study, February 2021.

8X expansion phase	Major scope element		
	SL2 + OL2 Upgrade at 8650 tph		
	• Zone to OL system swap (Zone 1 to OL3, Zone 2 to OL2, Zone 3 to OL1)		
Phase 4	Zone 4 – Completion of Row 8 with vertical western wall		
	• S9 and ST5 at 8100 tph above western wall		
	Replacement of RL2 with a new reclaimer RL2A		

Source: DBIM, DBCT 8X Expansion: FEL 2 Feasibility Study, February 2021, p. 19.

Delivery schedule

Figure 9	The 8X expansion delivery schedule
----------	------------------------------------

ID	Activity	Start	Finish	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025	2026	2027	2028
1	General	Apr-21	Mar-28								
2	FEL 3 study	Apr-21	Jun-22								
3	TCMP, 60/60, CEA & Approvals	Jul-22	Nov-22								
4	FEL 4 engineering	Nov-22	Oct-23								
5	Project Delivery & EPCM	Nov-22	Mar-28								
6	Expansion capacity commissioned						1.3	4.7	7 4.7	4.2	
7	Phase 1 - SL4 and outloading optimisation	Jul-23	Jan-28								
8	Outloading optimisation	Sep-23	Jul-24								
9	SL4 fabrication & installation	Jul-23	Oct-25								
10	L18 fabrication & installation	Feb-24	Dec-25								
12	Phase 2 - SAP	Nov-22	Apr-26								
13	SAP panel fabrication	Nov-22	Jan-24								
14	SAP Row 1 (Bund 1) and ST2/S6 installation	Sep-24	Mar-26					_			
15	SAP Row 2 (Bund 3) and ST1/S5 installation	May-24	Jun-25								
16	SAP Row 3 (Bund 2) and RL3/R2 installation	Jun-24	Apr-26								
17	Phase 3 - New IL4 and IL2/OL2 upgrade	Nov-23	May-27								
18	OL2 upgrade - part 1 (OL2)	Nov-23	Sep-24								
19	OL2 upgrade - part 2 (SL2 and L8)	Jan-25	Feb-26								
20	OL1 upgrade	Dec-24	Dec-25								
21	New IL4 fabrication and installation	Sep-24	Oct-26								
22	IL2 upgrade	Oct-24	May-27								
23	Phase 4 - Zone 4	Apr-24	Mar-28								
24	Row 8 on Bund 7 fabrication & development	Apr-24	Jul-27								_
25	RL2 & ST5 fabrication and installation	Aug-24	Mar-28								

Source: DBIM, sub. 1, p. 12.

APPENDIX B: LIST OF SUBMISSIONS

We have received the following submissions during our investigation of DBIM's application for a ruling on the pricing method applicable to the 8X expansion. The submission numbers below are used in this determination for referencing purposes. The submissions are available on the QCA website unless otherwise indicated.

Stakeholder	Sub. no.	Submission	Date	
DBIM 1		Application for a ruling on the pricing method for the 8X expansion	March 2021	
Whitehaven Coal	2	Submission on DBIM's application	June 2021	
BHP Billiton Mitsui Coal (BMC)	3	Submission on DBIM's application	June 2021	
Anthropocene Fixed Income Institute	4	Submission on DBIM's application	June 2021	
Synergies (on behalf of the non-expanding user group)	5	Submission on DBIM's application	June 2021	
DBIM	6	Submission in response to the QCA's draft determination on the pricing method for the 8X expansion	September 2021	
Aurizon Network	7	Submission in response to the QCA's draft determination on the pricing method for the 8X expansion	September 2021	
BHP Billiton Mitsui Coal (BMC)	8	Submission in response to the QCA's draft determination on the pricing method for the 8X expansion	September 2021	
Whitehaven Coal	9	Submission in response to the QCA's draft determination on the pricing method for the 8X expansion	September 2021	
Synergies	10	Submission in response to the QCA's draft determination on the pricing method for the 8X expansion	September 2021	

REFERENCES

Advisian, Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal Rehabilitation Cost Review (Revision 1), February 2021.

Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal Pty Ltd, Corporate Plan FYEJ 2022 — FYEJ 2026, April 2021.

- Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal User Group, submission to the QCA, DBCT Management Differential Pricing Draft Amending Access Undertaking, 19 March 2015.
- Dalrymple Bay Infrastructure Limited (DBI), *Prospectus—Dalrymple Bay Infrastructure Limited*, November 2020.
- Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal Management, submission to the QCA, DBCT Management Differential Pricing Draft Amending Access Undertaking—draft decision, 22 June 2015.

---- DBCT Master Plan 2019, August 2019.

- Queensland Competition Authority (QCA), *Capacity Expansion and Access Pricing for Rail and Ports*, discussion paper, April 2013.
- ---- DBCT Management's 2015 draft access undertaking, final decision, November 2016.
- ---- Part C: DBCT declaration review, final recommendation, March 2020.
- ---- DBCT Management 2020–21 annual revenue requirement, reference tonnage, terminal infrastructure charge and 2019–20 NECAP, letter to DBCT Management Pty Ltd, June 2020.

Queensland Government, Gazette: Extraordinary, no. 31, vol. 384, 1 June 2020.

Resource Management International (RMI), *DBCT 2019 DAU—Review of the economic life of DBCT assets*, prepared for the QCA, February 2021.